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RESULTS

The Group recorded a turnover of approximately HK$1,183
million for the year ended 31st March, 2010, a decrease of 9%
compared with last year. Profit attributable to shareholders fell
by 31% to approximately HK$41 million.

The more significant drop in net profit reflected the impact of
two major negative forces, namely (i) the lower prices of orders
obtained from customers, who became more risk averse
following sharp increases in market volatility in the United States
and Europe, and (ii) the higher operating costs in Mainland
China, which could not be fully transferred to customers due to
intense competition in the printing and packaging industry. As a
result, both gross profit margin and net profit margin of the

Group suffered a decline.

Sales of the Group to the United States recorded the largest fall.
which

accounted for a significantly higher percentage of the Group’s

The Group managed to expand further into Europe,

turnover in the financial year under review. Overall, sales in the
second half fell less compared to the sales decline in the first
half, reflecting the Group’s success in mitigating the negative

impact of market volatility on its sales.

The southern China operation remained the largest contributor to
the Group’s turnover and net profit. The eastern China operation
recorded a loss during the year. The South East Asia operation

achieved growth in both turnover and net profit.

Looking ahead, the Group is taking new measures to safeguard
its sales and enhance its profitability, details of which are

described in the “Business Review and Prospects” section.

DIVIDENDS

The Directors recommend a final dividend of HK1.5 cents (2009:
HK1.5 cents) per share for the year ended 31st March, 2010
2010 to shareholders
whose names appear on the Register of Members on Monday,
30th August, 2010. Together with the interim dividend of HK1
cent (2009: HK1 cent) paid, full year dividends for the financial
year would be HK2.5 cents per share (2009: HK2.5 cents).

payable on Tuesday, 21st September,
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BUSINESS REVIEW AND PROSPECTS
Hong Kong/Mainland China Operations

Overview

The year ended 31st March, 2010 marked a year of high
volatility in market sentiment. At the beginning of the financial
year, with the global economy in deep recession, customers
drastically cut orders and reduced inventory. Then orders began
to pick up in the second financial quarter amidst signs of
economic improvement. Yet, with unemployment remaining high
in the United States, and the European sovereign debt crisis
threatening to become contagious, customers became more
cautious during the second half of the financial year. Moreover,
due to the high volatility in consumer sentiment, customers in
general were highly averse to price increases. The strong
competition among Hong Kong and Mainland printers also
restrained such increases. Consequently, except for new orders
where the Group managed to obtain higher prices, many
renewed orders were priced at terms that could not fully reflect

the sharp rise in production costs.

Facing the formidable challenges described above, the Group
took a number of counter-measures to mitigate the impact on its
performance. First, the Group further expanded into the European
market, which accounted for a significantly higher percentage of
the Group’s turnover compared to a year ago. Second, the
Group focused its marketing efforts on growing industries as well
as those sectors that are traditionally more resilient to economic
downturn. Such sectors include children’s books and luxury
packaging. The Group was able to maintain the sales of the
former, and increased the sales of the latter. Third, as the overall
production costs in Shaoguan remained significantly lower than
those in Shenzhen and Guangzhou, the Group further utilized its
lower cost manufacturing facility in Shaoguan to contain its
production costs. Fourth, the Group adopted stringent measures
to control its financial and administrative expenses and increase

its operating efficiency.

As a result of the counter-measures, the Group was able to
mitigate the impact of the negative factors for the year. In fact,
sales in the second half fell less compared to the sales decline
in the first half. However, due to intense competition in the
printing and packaging industry, and the high averseness of
customers to price increases, the Group could not timely pass on
the significant increase in production costs to customers. As

such, profit margins of the Group suffered.
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To enhance the Group’s performance, the Group is taking further
action to increase its sales and improve its profitability. First, the
Group is expanding its domestic business in China, including the
setting up of a new branch factory in Yangzhou, details of which
are described in the sub-section titled “Eastern China Operation”.
Second, the Group, through its Singapore subsidiary, is
reactivating its production in Malaysia to increase capacity and
to expand its business in the Asia-Pacific region. Third, the
Group is looking into areas for automation to further reduce
wastage of materials and increase productivity. Fourth, the Group
is further strengthening its corporate strength as an environmental
conscious and socially responsible enterprise contributing to the

welfare of workers and society.

By transforming into a corporation that competes not solely on
price but on reputation, quality and reliability, the Group is
moving up the value chain to gain better ground for price
increases from customers. As seen in the sections below, the
Group has won major awards and endorsements for its quality
achievements and contributions to the community. The
management is confident that the Group’s transformation will
bring long-term benefits to its business growth and profit

enhancement.

Southern China Operation

For the year ended 31st March, 2010, the Group’s southern
China operation recorded a decline in turnover but managed to
sustain a profit. With unemployment in the United States hitting
record highs and Europe’s sovereign debt crisis escalating,
consumer confidence was weak across the continents, prompting
customers to hold back orders and press for lower contract

prices.

Moreover, the Group experienced a significant increase in its
operating costs in China. The wages in Shenzhen, Guangzhou,
and Shaoguan, where the Group’s southern China plants are
located, have increased by double digits over the past year, and
will further increase by double digits in coming months. Due to
labour shortage, the Group has to offer more than the minimum
wages in order to employ or retain workers, which significantly
increased the Group’s labour costs. In addition, the Group
experienced a sharp rise in the prices of raw materials since late
2009. Taking the lead were corrugated paper and duplex board
whose prices increased significantly in January 2010, followed
by other paper category such as art paper around March 2010.
In some cases, the prices have increased by over 30% surpassing
the peaks of 2008, and are expected to stay at high levels in the

coming months.
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By further expanding into the European market, focusing its
marketing efforts on growing industries and resilient sectors,
tightening the Group’s financial control, and increasing the
Group’s operating efficiency, the Group was able to mitigate the
impact of these negative factors and reported a profit. Strong
growth was achieved in the luxury packaging business, supported
by new endeavors made in the French market. Children’s books
proved resilient by recording a slight increase in sales. The
Group also participated in major trade fairs to enhance its
corporate brand and marketing effort. The Shaoguan plant further
increased its contribution to the Group, by utilizing its cost

advantage to offset the impact of lower contract prices.

Planning on a medium to long term basis following the full
implementation of lean manufacturing, the Group is exploring
further means to improve its production plan, production
efficiency and production facility, as well as product quality and
delivery, so as to minimize its costs and maximize its operating
proficiency. Moreover, it is striving for higher prices from
customers through new product innovation, new technology, and
higher standards in quality and reliability. Finally, the Group is
carefully evaluating its customer profiles to identify new

marketing endeavours.

With the global economic outlook remaining uncertain, the
southern China division will continue to tighten its capital
investment and adopt closer monitoring on stocks and customer
credits. However, the management is also closely monitoring the

market and will act timely as and when opportunities arise.

In August 2009, Starlite Printers (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd was
nominated as The Most Nature-Friendly Company by Publisher’s
Weekly. The magazine visited Starlite Printers (Shenzhen) Co.,
Ltd and 16 other companies’ manufacturing facilities in the Pearl
River Delta. The Special Report 2009 on Printing in Hong Kong,
published in August 2009, has nominated Starlite as The Most
Nature-Friendly Company they have visited.

In April 2010, Starlite Holdings Limited was awarded the
certificate for FOGRA Process Standard Offset, a standardized
procedure for creation of print products published by German’s
Printing and Media Industries Federation in collaboration with
the research associations Graphic Technology Research
Association and UGRA. Any printer taking the certification must
achieve and exceed FOGRA's standards on colour management,
proof production, plate-making and consistent print runs to earn
the certificate. Starlite is the first printing and packaging

company in China that has been granted the certificate.
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Eastern China Operation

The Group’s eastern China operation recorded a loss during the
year as a result of the cutback of orders by customers. Moreover,
in a bid to expand its domestic sales, the eastern China
operation has adopted an aggressive pricing strategy during the
year. As such, the rapid and drastic increase in operating costs
in the Mainland, as explained in the sections above, had a major
impact on the profitability of the eastern China operation, as the
prices of its orders could not fully reflect the much higher
production costs. Such impact was more significant in the
second half of the financial year ended 31st March, 2010. As an
illustration, the minimum wages in Suzhou has increased by
13% effective February 2010, which, coupled with the huge
increases in the prices of raw materials, dealt a severe blow to

the results of the eastern China operation.

Nonetheless, the efforts made to tap domestic businesses
including the cosmetics and health care sectors have yielded
results. New prestigious customers have been secured by the
Suzhou subsidiary in the domestic packaging business for
consumer products. Moreover, the Suzhou subsidiary has
established a new branch factory in Yangzhou to provide
printing and packaging services for a world-renowned health
care brand selling its products in China and the international

markets.

In May 2010, China’s State Council approved the Regional Plan
for the Yangtze River Delta. According to the Plan, the Yangtze
River Delta will be developed into a key international gateway
for the Asia-Pacific region, an important global centre for the
modern service industry and advanced manufacturing industry, as
well as a world-class cluster of cities. It is expected that the
area, which is made up of Shanghai and the provinces of Jiangsu
and Zhejiang and covering an area of 210,700 square kilometers,
will achieve modernization by 2020. The Group is hopeful that
the passing of the Plan will generate new opportunities for its

eastern China operation.

South East Asia Operation

The Singapore subsidiary managed to increase its sales and profit
during the year under review, benefiting from the resurging
demand from Asian economies as well as a growth of sales to
the European market. With a renowned reputation for innovative
design, printing and packaging technology, the Singapore
subsidiary was able to leverage on its strengths rather than to

compete solely on prices.
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In order to increase its capacity and to expand its business in
the Asia-Pacific region, the Singapore subsidiary is reactivating
its production in Malaysia. Plans are being carried out to initially
establish a new post-press operation there, which will be
managed by the Singapore management team. The Malaysian

plant is expected to begin operation in July 2010.

In November 2009, the Singapore subsidiary won three AsiaStar
2009 Awards under the Consumer Package category for its
Johnny Walker Black Centurion Il Box, Klassno Table Display
Stand and Rice Dumpling Box. The AsiaStar Award is organized
by the Asian Packaging Federation to recognize the winners as
“the best of the best” in the Asian packaging industry. In
addition, the Johnny Walker Black Centurion Il Box also won the
Worldstar Award 2009 awarded by the World Packaging
Organization in February 2010.

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

The Group’s sources of funding include cash generated from the
Group's operations and banking facilities provided to the Group
by banks mainly in Hong Kong and Mainland China. As at 31st
March, 2010, the Group’s cash and bank balances and short-

term bank deposits amounted to approximately HK$185 million.

During the year under review, the interest expense of the Group
amounted to approximately HK$8 million compared to
approximately HK$18 million recorded last year. Currently, the
Group has Renminbi-denominated loan facilities amounting to
approximately RMB65 million that are available for the Group’s
Shenzhen, Guangzhou, Shaoguan and Suzhou plants for working

capital purposes.

As at 31st March, 2010, the Group had a working capital
surplus of approximately HK$122 million compared to a working
capital surplus of approximately HK$76 million as at 31st March,
2009. The Group’s net gearing ratio as at 31st March, 2010 was
10% (31st March, 2009: 21%), based on short-term and long-
term bank borrowings, bill payables and finance lease
obligations, net of bank balance and cash of approximately
HK$52 million (31st March, 2009: HK$106 million), and
shareholders’ funds of approximately HK$545 million (31st
March, 2009: HK$502 million). The Group will continue to

adopt prudent policies to maintain a healthy financial position.
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CHARGE ON ASSETS

As at 31st March, 2010, certain assets of the Group with an
aggregate book carrying value of approximately HK$36 million
(31st March, 2009: HK$33 million) were pledged to secure the
banking facilities of the Group.

EXCHANGE RATE EXPOSURE

All the Group’s assets, liabilities and transactions are
denominated in Hong Kong dollars, US dollars, Chinese
Renminbi, Japanese Yen, Singapore dollars or Euro. The
exchange rate of US dollars/Hong Kong dollars is relatively
stable due to the current peg system in Hong Kong. On the
other hand, the existing Renminbi-denominated sales revenue
helps to reduce the Group’s commitments of Renminbi-
denominated operating expenses in Mainland China. Transaction
values involving Japanese Yen or Euro were primarily related to
the Group’s purchase of machinery and such exposures were

generally hedged by forward contracts.

HUMAN RESOURCES DEVELOPMENT
Currently the Group has more than 8,000 employees. The Group

maintains good relations with its employees, providing them
competitive packages and incentive schemes as well as various
training programmes. The Group has maintained a Share Option
Scheme under which share options can be granted to certain
employees (including executive directors of the Company) as
incentive for their contribution to the Group. Following the
opening of the “Starlite Institute of Management”, the Group
provides various training and development programmes to staff
on an ongoing basis. The Group will explore the possibility of
launching other special training programmes with universities in
Mainland China and education institutions abroad to further

enhance its staff quality.

SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY

As a responsible corporation, the Group is committed to
promoting social enhancement whilst developing its businesses,
through active participation in social welfare and environmental
protection activities to realize its mission. Regardless of where
the Group operates, we treat the local communities as family

members and strive to contribute to the communities.
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In past years, the Group has allocated significant resources to
energy conservation and environmental protection, provided
venues and platforms of training and job opportunities for young
people, and actively supported help-poor and schooling
campaigns as well as disaster relief efforts in China. Apart from
providing financial support, the Group also contributes people
and time to various charity drives. In many circumstances, the
Group’s Chairman makes initiative to organize joint efforts with
other enterprises and friends to pool resources together for the

maximum benefits of those in need.

The Group and its staff made financial and other support to the

following organizations:

J Federation of Hong Kong Guangdong Community

Organizations, with donation made to earthquake relief in
Qinghai

J Hong Kong Mei Zhou Association, with donation made to
earthquake relief in Qinghai and to sponsor the cultural
event celebrating the 60th Anniversary of the People’s

Republic of China

o Support to The HK Seagulls Scholarship Scheme

. Donation to Children’s Heart Foundation
o Support to Students in Jiaying University
. The Hong Kong Council of Social Service, with donation

made to its “Mainland CSR Development Fund”

LOOKING AHEAD

With divergent views in the market on the strength of the
recovery of the United States economy, customers have indicated
that it is difficult for them to plan on a medium to long-term
basis. Hence, while the somewhat improved outlook described
as “moderate growth” by the Federal Reserve has lifted orders
for the Group in the first quarter of the financial year ended 31st
March, 2011, and provided positive signs for orders in the
second financial quarter, it remains to be seen if high volatility
would return and customers would make U-turn changes on

their positions.
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The sovereign debt crisis in Europe continues to overshadow the
market in Europe. As European governments implement austerity
measures and tighten bank lending, consumer confidence in the
Eurozone is likely to falter. Moreover, there are signs that the
weak Euro appears to be dampening European demand for

China-made goods.

On the other hand, demand in the Asia-Pacific countries
continue to grow, supported by high governments’ reserves and
strong citizens’ savings. Moreover, the Chinese government is
taking preemptive measures to maintain a harmonious society,
part of which involves the support on consumption. These
developments provide favourable opportunities for the Group to
further expand its sales in China and the Asia-Pacific, and to
further utilize its strength and network in the region. The Group
is making new endeavours in both China and Asia to capitalize

on such opportunities, as described in the sections above.

With some major manufacturers offering high rises of wages to
workers recently, the pressure on other manufacturers is
significant. Moreover, as explained, not only wages but the
overall costs of production in China are rising. Under these
circumstances, Chinese manufacturers have no alternative but to
increase prices. However, in return for higher prices, Chinese
manufacturers must prove that they can provide more added
value. The Group is well aware of this irreversible trend. Apart
from further improving its product quality, reliability, and
customer services, the Group is making efforts to strengthen its
corporate standing, which include providing stronger support to
environmental protection, contributing to further standardization
of printing and packaging procedures, enhancing the protection
of employees’ rights, and more active participation in community
work. As Starlite celebrates its 40th anniversary this vyear,
management is confident that the Group has built a solid
foundation for achieving the necessary transformation and

becoming even stronger in the future.

On behalf of the Board
Lam Kwong Yu

Chairman

Hong Kong, 21st July, 2010
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With hindsight, the financial year 2009/2010 has instilled mixed
feelings as Starlite Group navigated the real economy. In the
aftermath of the financial tsunami, export markets steeply
declined. European and American customers experienced tight
operating funds. There were disruptions in the supply of raw
materials following a loss of equilibrium. And, finally, the credit
crunch. Facing these formidable challenges, Starlite people
responded calmly. Holding our ranks, we steered through one of

the most testing times in our corporate history.

In the first quarter of the financial year, turnover recorded a
drastic decline of 24% due to extremely weak conditions in
export markets. The decline narrowed to 12% and 3%,
respectively, in the second and third quarter. As demand in the
United States and Europe gradually recovered, the fourth quarter
saw a turnaround in turnover with a growth of 13%. However,
in early 2010, prices of paper materials soared rapidly and labor
costs rose significantly. As such, against the many efforts made,
turnover for the full year dropped by 9% and net profit fell to
approximately HK$41 million.

Notwithstanding the challenges, | saw Starlite’s strengths: We
focus on our principal business, keep our promise, and employ
sophisticated technology. We are eager to learn and improve,
have a stable workforce, healthy finance, and a sensible network
of geographical operations. With 40 years of persistence and
progression, we have won the support and trust of global
enterprises in Fortune 500. From time to time, they spur us to
wholeheartedly pursue high standards and new technologies, to
pave way for our new development, and to train up ourselves
for the next round of advancement! During the year under
review, in cooperation with multinational companies from
Switzerland and Germany as well as experts and scholars in
China, we have developed three national standards for the
printing industry in China. They have filled the gap in the
world’s post-press standards, providing China’s printing industry
a greater say in the development of international printing

standardization!
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Capitalizing on China’s fast growing consumer market, we are
striving to expand our domestic sales in China with the hope to
achieve an equal breakdown between export and domestic sales
as early as possible. The Group is also implementing lean
manufacturing across its operations, which involves the adoption
of lean management, enhancement of operating procedures,
automation, standardization, manufacture to orders, and human-
based management. Senior management officers are preaching
and practicing the procedures, paying more efforts than others in
increasing our efficiency and reducing our operating costs. While
seeking to increase our sales, we are keeping a close eye on the
profitability of orders — our aim is to secure reasonable
operating profits and thrive on chaos. All in all, we will do our
best to achieve good results as a means of thanks to our friends
in the community for their long-term support, and to bring

satisfactory returns for all our shareholders.

On behalf of the Board, | would like to thank our shareholders,
customers, bankers, suppliers and friends in the community for
their continued support and all our staff for their loyalty and
dedication.

Lam Kwong Yu

Chairman

Hong Kong, 21st July, 2010
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CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENTS

Revenue
Operating profit

Profit for the year
attributable to the
equity holders of the
Company

Dividends

Basic earnings per share
for profit attributable
to the equity holders
of the Company
(HK cents)

BRENAKRDAERE
B ARG T
FEHZBREAR
&M GEALD

mE R

Year ended 31st March,
BE=R=t—HLEFE
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2010 2009 2008 2007 2006
—EB-BF —TTNF ZFTTN\F ZTTELF ZFTERF
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FTERT THET TAETT THET TET
1,182,639 1,303,404 1,170,617 1,128,021 907,054
54,227 85,768 72,417 58,929 67,001
41,212 59,598 44,114 32,541 31,128
13,081 12,909 14,187 12,884 12,884
7.92 11.92 10.27 7.58 7.27
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL

POSITION

Non-current assets
Current assets

Current liabilities

Net current assets

Total assets less current

liabilities
Non-current liabilities
Net assets

Shareholders’ equity

FERBEE

mBEE

UEIB=N

MBEEFR

BEERMRD
BfE

FRBEE

BEFE

P R a1

meEMBRR R

As at 31st March,

R=A=+-8

2010 2009 2008 2007 2006
—E-2F "TTAE “TE\F -TTLF -TIAF
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FHT FHR THRT THT THT
491,302 512,257 515,930 477,904 446,497
544,432 407,263 488,061 420,909 376,765
(422,822) (331,386) (449,960) (400,600) (321,820)
121,610 75,877 38,101 20,309 54,945
612,912 588,134 554,031 498,213 501,442
(68,144) (86,249) (120,872) (123,135) (156,021)
544,768 501,885 433,159 375,078 345,421
544,768 501,885 433,159 375,078 345,421




The Directors have the pleasure of presenting their annual report
together with the audited financial statements of Starlite Holdings
Limited (“the Company”) and its subsidiaries (“the Group”) for
the year ended 31st March, 2010.

Principal activities

The Company is an investment holding company. Its subsidiaries
are principally engaged in the printing and manufacturing of
packaging materials, labels, and paper products, including

environmental friendly paper products.

Details of the Group’s revenue and segment results are set out in

Note 5 to the accompanying financial statements.

Major customers and suppliers

For the year ended 31st March, 2010, the five largest customers
accounted for approximately 28% of the Group’s total revenue
and the five largest suppliers accounted for approximately 21%
of the Group’s total purchases. In addition, the largest customer
accounted for approximately 11% of the Group’s revenue while
the largest supplier accounted for approximately 10% of the

Group's total purchases.

None of the directors, their associates, or any shareholder (which,
to the knowledge of the Company’s Directors, owned more than
5% of the Company’s share capital) had a beneficial interest in

the Group’s five largest customers or suppliers.

Results and appropriations
Details of the Group’s results for the year ended 31st March,
2010 are set out in the consolidated income statement on page

48 of this annual report.

The Directors have declared an interim dividend of HK$0.01 per
ordinary share, totalling approximately HK$5,221,000, which was
paid on 22nd January, 2010.

The Directors recommend the payment of a final dividend of
HK1.5 cents per ordinary share, totalling approximately
HK$7,860,000, and recommend that the Group’s retained profits
of approximately HK$315,590,000 be carried forward.
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Share capital and employee share options
Details of movements in share capital and the employee share
option scheme of the Company are set out in Notes 27 and 28,

respectively, to the accompanying financial statements.

Reserves
Movements in reserves of the Group and the Company during
the year are set out in Note 29 to the accompanying financial

statements.

As at 31st March, 2010, the Company’s retained profit of
approximately HK$9,975,000 was available for distribution to the
Company’s shareholders, of which approximately HK$7,860,000

has been proposed as the final dividend for the year.

Purchase, sale or redemption of shares

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold
or redeemed any of the Company’s listed shares during the year
ended 31st March, 2010.

Pre-emptive rights
There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s

Bye-laws and the laws in Bermuda.

Subsidiaries
Particulars of the subsidiaries are set out in Note 17 to the

accompanying financial statements.

Property, plant and equipment
Details of movements in property, plant and equipment during

the year are set out in Note 16 to the accompanying financial

statements.

Bank loans
Particulars of bank loans as at 31st March, 2010 are set out in

Notes 23 and 33 to the accompanying financial statements.

Pension schemes
Details of the pension schemes are set out in Note 9 to the

accompanying financial statements.

Charitable contributions
During the year, the Group made charitable contributions of
approximately HK$88,000 (2009: HK$1,364,000).

BARESEKE
RARBAZEH N ESHEBRESSZ
W& BT 2 B 75 R 3R BT 5E27 %28 ©

FEDRER

H1E
AEBRARBRFARAZHEEHER
R K MTFE29 o

A B Bt 2 B 75

M-T-—TFE=F=+—H AQE 7K TF K
2R B % F 49,975,000/ T E A 497,860,000/
TEBRRIEAAFERAR SR -

BE -HEITERMD
ARBREERAMBLAARBEE T —TF=A
ST-PALFEREYEBE HEXBEEMARA
LR -

BRBRE

AR AV B T A D 3 0T S R 2 0
%o

MELE

P 23 0 2 5 1 Y22 B 2 SR R 17
X -BEREE

TRME - BERREZ RO ERREN 2

WEMIFETI6 ©

RITER
R-ZE—ZTF=A=+—A8 R
W& BT 2 B 7% R R BT 5E23 %33 -

TERZFBHR

RIKE S

BREF B 2 FEB RN BE I 2 B 75 R MY RE9

ZBEBR
F AR KEEB L 880008 T(ZZFTZT NLF:
1,364,000 70) 2 FHIBIEZRE A%



Directors and directors’ service contracts
The directors who held office during the year and up to the date

of this report are:

Executive Directors

Mr. Lam Kwong Yu, Chairman

Ms. Yeung Chui, Vice Chairman

Mr. Tai Tzu Shi, Angus, Senior Vice President

Mr. Cheung Chi Shing, Charles, Senior Vice President
Mr. Lim Pheck Wan, Richard, Senior Vice President

Independent Non-Executive Directors
Mr. Chan Yue Kwong, Michael
Mr. Kwok Lam-Kwong, Larry, 8Bs, /P

Mr. Tam King Ching, Kenny

In accordance with the Bye-laws of the Company, all of the
directors will retire at the forthcoming annual general meeting

and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election.

None of the directors has an unexpired contract with the Group
which is not terminable by the Group within one year without

payment of compensation (other than statutory compensation).

Independent Non-Executive Directors’ confirmation of
independence

The Company has received independence confirmation from
each of the Independent Non-Executive Directors, namely Mr.
Chan Yue Kwong, Michael, Mr. Kwok Lam-Kwong, Larry, 8ss, /P
and Mr. Tam King Ching, Kenny pursuant to rule 3.13 of the

Listing Rules, and considers them to be independent.
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Directors’ interests in shares and share options

As at 31st March, 2010, the interest of the Directors and Chief
Executive of the Company in the shares, underlying shares and
debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations
(within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures
Ordinance (“SFO”)) which were required to be notified to the
Company and The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”) pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of
the SFO (including interests or short positions which they were
taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO), or
which were recorded in the register required to be kept by the
Company under Section 352 of the SFO, or which were

required, pursuant to the Rules Governing the Listing of

EERRAREBREZER
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ERAZZEREXEBIXBAER 2 B X
B) UEHERARARESFRPE Im&"IJ%352\5‘2,\
EFzERMANERS AR - SRR AT
imﬁwﬂimﬁJDmﬂﬁﬁﬂT&%“%m%
HHABRWT

Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”), to be
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange, were as
follows:
Long positions in Shares
Personal

Name of Director Capacity interests
32 54 BARS
Mr. Lam Kwong Yu Beneficial owner, interest ~ E# g - B EER 6,230,000
kg E of spouse & controlled ZRHDRzER

corporation, beneficiary FEEEEA

and founder of trusts REIHA
Ms. Yeung Chui Beneficial owner, interest  E#EH  BEER 1,320,000
BEIL of spouse & controlled M ARz E

corporation, beneficiary ERZHA

and founder of trusts RAIHA
Mr. Tai Tzu Shi, Angus Beneficial owner & EnBEAR 1,000,000
BEEEE interest of spouse [T e
Mr. Cheung Chi Shing, Charles  Beneficial owner BHEE 900,000
REMELE
Mr. Lim Pheck Wan, Richard  Beneficial owner ExXES —

PR SEE

Details of share options granted to Directors are separately disclosed under the
heading of Share Option Scheme.

Notes:

1. Dayspring Enterprises Limited held 1,012,901 shares in the Company. The
entire issued share capital of the company is beneficially owned and
controlled by Mr. Lam Kwong Yu and Ms. Yeung Chui. The 1,012,901 shares
of Mr. Lam Kwong Yu and Ms. Yeung Chui are the same block of shares.

2. Best Grade Advisory Limited (“BGAL”) held 274,442,677 shares in the

Company. The entire issued share capital of BGAL is held by Masterline
Industrial Limited as trustee of The New Super Star Unit Trust. All except one
unit in The New Super Star Unit Trust are beneficially owned by two
discretionary trusts, the discretionary beneficiaries of which include Mr. Lam
Kwong Yu, Ms. Yeung Chui and Mr. Lam Chuen Yik, Kenneth. HSBC
International Trustee Limited acted as trustee of the two discretionary trusts.
The two references to 274,442,677 shares relate to the same block of shares
in the Company.
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(Note 1) (Note 2)
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(Note 1) (Note 2)
(& (ME2)
18,000 — — 1,018,000 0.19% 3,200,000
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— — — — — 4,200,000
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Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors or Chief
Executive of the Company had, as at 31st March, 2010, any
interests or short positions in the shares, underlying shares or
debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations
(within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which would have
to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant
to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests
or short positions which they were taken or deemed to have
under such provisions of the SFO), or which were recorded in
the register required to be kept by the Company under Section
352 of the SFO, or which were required to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Listing Rules.

Share option scheme

A new share option scheme has been adopted by the Company
since 6th September, 2002 (the “New Share Option Scheme”) to
replace a share option scheme which had been adopted on 8th
February, 1993 (the “Old Share Option Scheme”) to comply with
the current statutory requirements. The Company may grant
options to the participants as set out in the New Share Option

Scheme.

Pursuant to the Special General Meeting of shareholders of the
Company held on 15th May, 2008, the Scheme Mandate Limit
under the New Share Option Scheme has been refreshed. The
Scheme Mandate Limit has been re-set at 10% of the shares in
issue as at the date the limit was “refreshed”. On the basis of
430,295,989 shares in issue on date of refreshment, the limit
was re-set at 43,029,598 shares.

Summary of the New Share Option Scheme was as follows:

1. Purpose of the New Share Option
Scheme
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ARRZEFRFTBTRABMERARRKEE
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430,295,989k 5t E - RBEE EFEIE R 43,029,598

B

MERESENHENT

To provide participants with the opportunity to acquire proprietary interests
in the Company and to encourage participants to work towards enhancing

the value of the Company and its shares.

MEREREIE M

R2EATREERS

KARERZES USKBH2EALTHNBERR

RERER D ZEE-

2. Participants of the New Share Option
Scheme

(i) Any full-time employee of the Company or of any subsidiary; and

(ii) Any full-time executive director of the Company or of any subsidiary.

MR B2 E

) ARFRHEMBARAZEBES &

(i) RABIHEMBRAR 22 BPTES -

27



28

3. Total number of shares available for

issue under the New Share Option
Scheme and percentage of issued share
capital as at the date of the annual
report

R R AR AT B AT BT R BRI
AERABECBETRABO L

4. Maximum entitlement of each participant

under the New Share Option Scheme

BU2E AL RENBERE BT RE
B % = BURR

o\

. The period within which the shares must

be taken up under an option

1R 15 8 A HE R AR IR A O B TR

. The minimum period for which an

option must be held before it can be
exercised

BRITE RIS A BRI &G R

The Company may initially grant options representing 41,250,098 shares
under the New Share Option Scheme (i.e. approximately 10% of the issued
share capital of the Company as at the date of the approval of the New
Share Option Scheme).

The 10% Scheme Mandate Limit has been refreshed pursuant to the Special
General Meeting held on 15th May, 2008. On the basis of 430,295,989
shares in issue on date of approval of refreshment of the Scheme Mandate
Limit, the limit was re-set at 43,029,598 shares representing approximately
8.21% of the issued share capital of the Company as at date of the annual
report.

The maximum number of shares which may be issued upon exercise of all
outstanding options granted and yet to be exercised under the New Share
Option Scheme and any other schemes adopted by the Company must not
exceed 30% of the shares in issue from time to time. No options may be
granted under the New Share Option Scheme or any other share option
scheme if that will result in the 30% limit being exceeded.

RIBF BB S KRB LA TP k41,250,098 B (16 A R 7]
REAFEREA SRR 2 B #TRAN10%) 2 BRE -

RZZEZENFRA+TAABHNBRERIAS EFHaHhHhz+HER
EPREE  RHLEE AR EREE B E %17 15430,295,9890% 51 & -
(R B 5] TE A43,029,5988 AR R R AFRABZEHTRAYN
8.21% °

R IR AR X R ER A 2 3 B BSOHE R &) R AR Ho A 58U 1 M oR 1T R 2 BB R
RETEBRMABTZROEEZ2HEITEBETIHEHTRNO Z
30% o AR BT BT SR THBRES §BIB30% LR A AAET
B -

The total number of shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of the
options granted and to be granted to each participant (including both
exercised and outstanding options) under the New Share Option Scheme or
any other share option scheme adopted by the Company in any 12 month
period must not exceed 1% of the shares in issue.

BRI AR EBIA R AR R R 2 E A E A B AR 5t &) - FEEMN1218 A 8
A ASU2EATRTEBRERNETEERE(BEETEEHART
CBRE)EFTRE FETZRNARE  TMSBBEETRNMA Z
1% -

Must not be more than 10 years from the date of offer or grant of the
option.

BRKERER T2 AR NEEBTF -

An option may be exercised at any time during a period commencing on

the expiry of 6 calendar months after the date of grant of the option, but
in any event not later than 10 years from the date of grant.

BRETAHR TEBREE BEANEEAREMERTE  ENS3
BZERERH B H0F A -



7. The amount payable on application or
acceptance of the option and the period
within which payments or calls must or
may be made or loans for such purposes
must be paid

HREERBRENENSRUARMNR
FBANKOPRIEERFERER
BB R

8. The basis of determining the exercise
price

BETEENESE

9. The remaining life of the New Share
Option Scheme

FEE T Bl R BR HAMR

The amount payable on acceptance of an option is HK$10 and an offer
shall remain open for acceptance by the participant for a period of 28
days from the date on which the letter containing the offer is delivered to

that participant.

EWBRERMASNZRERBEIOT - M2 EA LA RKEEL K
Ft28 8 B i A 2 40 B B AE o

The exercise price shall be determined by the Board in its absolute
discretion and shall be at least the highest of:

(i)

(i)

(iii)

the closing price of the shares as stated in the daily quotations sheet
issued by the Stock Exchange on the date of grant, which must be a
business day; or

the average closing price of the shares as stated in the daily
quotation sheets issued by the Stock Exchange for the 5 business
days immediately preceding the date of grant; or

the nominal value of the shares on the date of grant.

BREZTEEHEFSET  ExPUTIPESERE:

(M)

(i)

(iii)

BOMIBRHETEREZER (ERZXER)BIMEARERMAD
ZWHE K
BROMNEEREETEREAHANAEXZAERIMEARE
R 2 FHWTHE &

RETEREZSBENRMOEE -

The New Share Option Scheme shall be valid and effective for a period of
ten years commencing on the adoption date i.e. 6th September, 2002.

EBREAEAEAE (A 22 - FAARNEE+FRA—BELERNEN -
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The following table shows the movements in the Company’s

share options during the year and the outstanding options at the

beginning and end of the year:

Share option scheme

Name

et

(i) Directors

=

Mr. Lam Kwong Yu
M A

Ms. Yeung Chui
BERLL

Mr. Tai Tzu Shi, Angus
BEELELE

Mr. Cheung Chi Shing,
Charles
RAER L

Mr. Lim Pheck Wan,
Richard
MRS BE 5 A

(ii) Employees
BB

Date of
grant

KA H

9.2.2007
(Note 1)
(PR 5ET)

9.2.2007
(Note 1)
(PR 7ET)

9.2.2007
(Note 1)
(M &ET)

21.7.2008
(Note 2)
(B 5E2)

9.2.2007
(Note 1)
(MF 1)

21.7.2008
(Note 2)
(B 5%2)

9.2.2007
(Note 1)
(MFET)

21.7.2008
(Note 2)
(B 5%2)

9.2.2007
(Note 1)
(B EET)

21.7.2008
(Note 3)
(B 5E3)

Exercise
period

THREHE

9.8.2007—-
8.2.2010

9.8.2007—-
8.2.2010

9.8.2007—-
8.2.2010

21.1.2009-
20.1.2013

9.8.2007—-
8.2.2010

21.1.2009-
20.1.2013

9.8.2007—-
8.2.2010

21.1.2009-
20.1.2013

9.8.2007—-
8.2.2010

21.1.2009-
20.1.2013

ARABBERERFAZES RN FIRFELE KT

B2 RN T RAR
BRERTE
Number of shares
R4 EE
Exercise Exercised Lapsed

price per Beginning during the during the End of
share of year year year year

BR
ABE £ FROE FRAEX FR
HK$ ‘000 ‘000 ‘000 ‘000
BT TR TR TR T
0.449 1,586 — (1,586) —
0.449 1,269 — (1,269) —
0.449 529 — (529) —
0.385 4,200 (1,000) — 3,200
0.449 529 — (529) —
0.385 4,200 — — 4,200
0.449 529 — (529) —
0.385 4,200 — — 4,200
0.449 2,713 (990) (1,723) —
0.385 20,110 (5,630) (1,900) 12,580
39,865 (7,620) (8,065) 24,180




Notes:

(1) Following the completion of the open offer of the Company’s shares in June
2008, the number of outstanding share options granted on 9th February, 2007
has been adjusted from 6,765,000 (exercise price of HK$0.475 each) to
7,154,847 (exercise price of HK$0.449 each).

(2) The vesting of share options is subject to certain performance targets that
must be achieved by the directors. The share options shall be exercised by
the directors not later than 20th January, 2013.

(3) The vesting of certain share options is subject to certain performance targets
that must be achieved by the employees. The share options shall be exercised
by the employees not later than 20th January, 2013.

The Company had used Binomial Option Pricing Model and
Trinomial Option Pricing Model to determine the fair value of
certain options granted as at the date of grant, details of which

are set out in Note 28 to the financial statements.

Save as disclosed above, at no time during the year was the
Company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to
enable any of the Company’s directors or members of its
management to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of
shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any other body

corporate.

Directors’ interests in contracts

Save as disclosed in Note 34 to the accompanying financial
statements, no contract of significance in relation to the Group’s
business to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries or
holding companies was a party and in which any of the
Company’s directors or members of its management had a
material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the

end of the year or at any time during the year.

B

(1) ZEENFRAKRRALAARETKE RZTTLF-A
JUB R LB ERITE 2 R - BUE £6,765,0000% (F IR 17
18 {80,475/ 70) A 57,154,847 (5 I 1T (£ (B0.44938 7T) °

@) EENARNETRERBTINEABRENERE -ESVA
TER-_F-—=F—-A-t+RTEXSHLRE-

3) ETEEVAZINAETRAERITABBRENRE -ER
PEATER-_Z—=F—-A-t+HRTEZZBRE-

ARAERB-_EANEEERAR=ZBAANEE
BRERATEETRHERENROHERZAFE
FIEHN BT MR 28 o

B WEEIN RERNEANER ARFAREE
MRBARAMESEEFALE SRARTAEER
HERBEXRBERBARBREMEMEAEEZ
B RES M -
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Substantial shareholders

So far as is known to any Director or Chief Executive of the
Company, as at 31st March, 2010, shareholders (other than
Directors or Chief Executive of the Company) who had interest
or short positions in the shares or underlying shares of the
Company which would fall to be disclosed to the Company
under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO,
or which were recorded in the register required to be kept by

the Company under Section 336 of the SFO were as follows:

Long positions of substantial shareholders in the shares of the

Company

Name of shareholder Capacity
BRRERB 514
Best Grade Advisory Limited Beneficial owner
Emia
Masterline Industrial Limited Trustee
FFEA
HSBC International Trustee Limited Trustee
EFEA
Notes:
1. The two references of 274,442,677 shares relate to the same block of shares

in the Company. Best Grade Advisory Limited (“BGAL”) held 274,442,677
shares in the Company. The entire issued share capital of BGAL is held by
Masterline Industrial Limited as trustee of The New Super Star Unit Trust. All
except one unit in The New Super Star Unit Trust are beneficially owned by
two discretionary trusts, the discretionary beneficiaries of which include Mr.
Lam Kwong Yu, Ms. Yeung Chui and Mr. Lam Chuen Yik, Kenneth. HSBC
International Trustee Limited acted as trustee of the two discretionary trusts.

2. The two references of 274,442,677 shares described in Notes 1 and 2 relate
to the same block of shares in the Company. HSBC International Trustee
Limited (“HSBC”), as trustee of two discretionary trusts in which Mr. Lam
Kwong Yu, Ms. Yeung Chui and Mr. Lam Chuen Yik, Kenneth were the
beneficiaries, were interested and/or deemed to be interested in the said
274,442,677 shares.

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee is composed of all the three Independent
Non-Executive Directors of the Company. The Audit Committee
has reviewed with management the accounting principles and
practice adopted by the Group and discussed auditing, internal
control, and financial reporting matters, including the review of

financial statements for the year ended 31st March, 2010.

FERR

RARAEEREZTHRAERMM R —Z2F
:H:+—EvW$“ﬂh@¢m@%@¢%ﬁﬁ

BEFRPERAEXVIHE2REID BN IEXAR
ARBIPEBRXCDERADREEAFRHEHEH S

BFEBEFNERMAMERI AR ZRE (KA F]

ERENFEITHRAERINGT -

TERFEARRRBRGZHFR

Approximate % of

Number of Shares Shareholding
R #AE EREZBHNBED L
274,442,677 52.38%
(Note 1)
(Mt 1)
274,442,677 52.38%
(Note 1)
(BEET)
274,442,677 52.38%
(Note 2)
(Ff 5%2)

Bt &E -

1. R R PR R 2 274,442,677 AR FI R BiERE— B
Wt o Et %15 FBest Grade Advisory Limited ([ BGAL )+
A °BGALZ 2 ¥ B # 17l A& 1 The New Super Star Unit Trust
2 {5 %E AMasterline Industrial Limited$$ A © B — (@ &8 25
The New Super Star Unit Trustz H #h 2 {7 % (6 i @ 2 f# 5 5E
BEnls MZEIRERZIRABREMEDEE HBE
7+ RAREE 54 o MHSBC International Trustee Limited 5
MIEZRIEENEEA -

2. B aE1 R2PTIR Ko 2 274,442,677 RA DB - BRR —RH
25  HSBC International Trustee Limited ([ HSBC J) 4 i il &
BEIEZETIA MAXMEE BRELZEIRARERLER
AZSER2ZZHEAN HSBCHEA KR SR AR T2
274,442,677 BRI 19 a5

EREES

ARAIZERZEGRARDAZAA = IEH
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B DM SR AEEENERE T
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Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee was set up with the responsibility
of recommending to the Board the remuneration policy of all the
Directors and the senior management. The Remuneration
Committee composed of all the three Independent Non-Executive

Directors of the Company.

Financial summary
A summary of the Group’s financial information for the last five
financial years is set out on pages 21 and 22 of this annual

report.

Directors’ interests in competing business

During the year ended 31st March, 2010, none of the Directors
nor their respective associates had any interests in a business
which competes or may compete with the businesses of the

Company.

Sufficiency of public float

Based on the information that is publicly available to the
Company and within the knowledge of its Directors, the
Directors confirm that the Company has maintained during the
year under review the amount of public float as required under

the Listing Rules.

Corporate governance
A report on the principal corporate governance practices adopted
by the Company is set out on pages 34 to 41 of the annual

report.

Auditor
The accompanying financial statements were audited by

PricewaterhouseCoopers. A resolution for appointment of
PricewaterhouseCoopers as the Company’s auditors for the
ensuring year, is to be proposed at the forthcoming annual

general meeting.

On behalf of the Board
Lam Kwong Yu

Chairman

Hong Kong, 21st July, 2010
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

Starlite Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(together the “Group”) are committed to maintaining and
upholding good corporate governance in order to protect the
interests of shareholders, customers, suppliers and staff. The
Company strives at ensuring high standards of corporate
governance in the interests of shareholders and takes care to
identify practices designed to achieve effective oversight,

transparency and ethical behavior.

Throughout the year ended 31st March, 2010, the Company was
in compliance with the Code as set out in the then Appendix 14
of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock
Exchange (the “Listing Rules”), except for the deviations as

mentioned below.

This report includes information relating to corporate governance
practices of the Company during the year ended 31st March,
2010 and significant events after that date and up to the date of
this report.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS
The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities

Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) as
set out in Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules for securities
transactions by the Directors. All Directors have confirmed that,
during the year ended 31st March, 2010, they have complied
with the required standard set out in the Model Code regarding

securities transactions by the Directors.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS
The Board

The Board is at the core of the Company’s corporate governance
framework, and there is clear division of responsibilities between
the Board and the Management. The Board is responsible for
providing high-level guidance and effective oversight of the

Management. Generally, the Board is responsible for:

. formulating the Group’s long-term strategy and monitoring

the implementation thereof;

J reviewing and approving the annual business plan and

financial budget;

J approving the annual and interim reports;

J reviewing and monitoring risk management and internal
control;

. ensuring good corporate governance and compliance; and

. monitoring the performance of the Management.

The Board currently has eight members, comprising three
Independent Non-Executive Directors and five Executive Directors
of whom certain are with appropriate professional qualification

or are in possession of financial management expertise.
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The Board is scheduled to meet at least four times a year to
determine overall strategic direction and objectives and approve
interim and annual results and other significant matters. During
the year ended 31st March, 2010, four Board meetings were
held with an average attendance rate of approximately 97%,
details of which are presented below:

Board Members Meetings Attended/Held

Executive Directors

Mr. Lam Kwong Yu (Chairman of the Board) 4/4
Ms. Yeung Chui 3/4
Mr. Tai Tzu Shi, Angus 4/4
Mr. Cheung Chi Shing, Charles 4/4
Mr. Lim Pheck Wan, Richard 4/4

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Chan Yue Kwong, Michael 4/4
Mr. Kwok Lam-Kwong, Larry, 8ss, jp 4/4
Mr. Tam King Ching, Kenny 4/4

The meeting schedule had been prepared and approved by the
Board in the preceding year. In general, Board agenda and
meeting materials are despatched to all Board members in a
timely manner. Board agenda is approved by the Chairman
following consultation with other Board members and the

Management.

The Company Secretary, Mr. Cheung Chi Shing, Charles, is
responsible for taking minutes of Board and Board Committee
meetings. Draft and final minutes are sent to all Directors for
comments within a reasonable time. A final draft of each
minutes of meetings is made available for inspection by

Directors/Committee Members.

All Directors have access to the Company Secretary who is
responsible for ensuring that Board procedures are complied with
and advises the Board on corporate governance and compliance
matters. They are also encouraged to take independent
professional advice at the Company’s expense in performance of
their duties, if necessary. Furthermore, all the Directors are
covered by the Directors’” & Officers’ Liability Insurance, which

is also part of our best practices.
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Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Code Provision A.2.1 stipulates that the roles of chairman and
chief executive officer should be separated and should not be
performed by the same individual. The Company does not have
a separate Chairman and Chief Executive Officer and Mr. Lam
Kwong Yu currently holds both positions. The Board believes
that vesting the roles of both Chairman and Chief Executive
Officer in the same person would allow the Company to be
more effective and efficient in developing long-term business
strategies and execution of business plans. The Board believes
that the balance of power and authority is adequately ensured
by the operating of the Board which comprises experienced and
high caliber individuals with a sufficient number thereof being

Non-Executive Directors.

Appointments, re-election and removal

The Board as a whole is responsible for the procedure agreeing
to the appointment of its own members and for nominating them
for election by the shareholders on first appointment and
thereafter subject to retirement and re-election at annual general
meeting in accordance with the Bye-laws of the Company. Code
Provision A.4.1 stipulates that Non-Executive Directors should be
appointed for a specific term, subject to re-election. The Non-
Executive Directors of the Company have not been appointed for
a specific term as they are subject to retirement and re-election
at annual general meeting in accordance with the Bye-laws of
the Company. The Company has not established any nomination
committee and is not currently considering establishing the same
owing to the small size of the Board of the Company. The
Chairman of the Board is mainly responsible for identifying
appropriate candidates to fill the casual vacancy whenever it
arises or to add additional member as and when required. The
Chairman will propose the qualified candidate(s) to the Board for
consideration. The Board will approve the appointment based on
the suitability, qualification of the candidate. The Chairman of
the Board is reviewing the structure, size and composition of the
Board and assessing the independence of Independent Non-

Executive Directors, on a regular basis.

Responsibilities of Directors

Upon acceptance of appointment, a new Director is provided
with sufficient orientation package, including introduction to
Group activities (when necessary), induction into their
responsibilities and duties, and other regulatory requirements, to
ensure that he has a proper understanding of the business and

his responsibilities as a Director of the Company.
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Each of the Directors is required to give sufficient time and
attention to the affairs of the Company. As seen above, a very
satisfactory average attendance rates were recorded on the

meetings of the Board and Committees under the Board.

Independent Non-Executive Directors
The roles of the Independent Non-Executive Directors include
the following:

(i) provision of independent judgement at the Board meeting;
(ii) take the lead where potential conflicts of interests arise;
(iii)  serve on committees if invited; and

(iv)  scrutinize the performance of the Group as necessary.

The Independent Non-Executive Directors of the Company and
their immediate family receive no payment from the Company or
its subsidiaries (except the Director fee). No family member of
any Independent Non-Executive Directors is employed as an
executive officer of the Company or its subsidiaries, or has been
so in the past three years. The Independent Non-Executive
Directors are subject to retirement and re-election at the annual
general meeting in accordance with the Bye-laws of the
Company. Each Independent Non-Executive Director has
provided a confirmation of his independence with reference to

the new independence guidelines as set out in the Listing Rules.

Supply of and access to information

To allow the Directors to make an informed decision and
properly discharge their duties and responsibilities, the Company
Secretary ensures that relevant Board papers are sent to all the
Directors in a timely manner. All Board papers and minutes are
also made available for inspection by the Board and its

Committees.

REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

The Remuneration Committee was set up with the responsibility
of recommending to the Board the remuneration policy of all the
Directors and the senior management. The Remuneration
Committee composed of all the three Independent Non-Executive
Directors of the Company.
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The Committee Chairman is required to report to the Board on
its proceedings after each meeting on all matters within its duties

and responsibilities.

A meeting of the Remuneration Committee is required to be held
at least once a year to coincide with key dates within the
financial reporting and audit cycle. During the year ended 31st
March, 2010, two meetings were held, attendance for the two
meetings held by the Remuneration Committee is set out below:

Remuneration Committee Members Meetings Attended/Held

Mr. Chan Yue Kwong, Michael (Chairman) 2/2
Mr. Kwok Lam-Kwong, Larry, BBS, /P 1/2
Mr. Tam King Ching, Kenny 2/2

The Remuneration Committee is authorised to investigate any
matter within its Terms of Reference and seek any information it
requires from any employee and obtain outside legal or other
independent professional advice at the cost of the Company if it
considers necessary. The Remuneration Committee has reviewed
the compensation of the Directors and senior executives for
2010.

During the year ended 31st March, 2010, total Directors’
remuneration amounted to approximately HK$12,574,000 (2009:
HK$12,398,000), individual details of which are disclosed in
Note 10 to the financial statements. Executive Directors and
senior management’s compensation including the long-term
incentive shall be based on the corporate and individual

performance.

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

Financial reporting

The Directors are responsible for the preparation of financial
statements for each financial period which give a true and fair
view of the state of affairs of the Group and of the results and
cash flow for that period. In preparing the financial statements
for the year ended 31st March, 2010, the Directors have selected
suitable accounting policies and applied them consistently;
adopted appropriate Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
and Hong Kong Accounting Standards; made adjustments and
estimates that are prudent and reasonable; and have prepared
the financial statements on the going concern basis. The
Directors are also responsible for keeping proper accounting
records which disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the

financial position of the Company.
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Internal controls

The Board has delegated to management the responsibility to
develop and maintain a sound internal control system. The
internal control system, operating through a framework of
management and operational controls, and risk management
systems, is intended to allow the Board to monitor the Group’s
business performance and financial positions, to control and
adjust risk exposures, to adopt sound business practices, to
obtain reasonable assurance on controls against fraud and errors,
to ensure compliance with applicable laws and regulations, and
to provide oversight and guidance to management in achieving

the Company’s objectives.

The key procedures that the Group has established to maintain

an effective internal control system are as follows:

. A clear management organisational structure is set up with
well-defined lines of authority, accountability and

responsibilities.

J Regular reporting of the performance of the Company’s
businesses to senior management. The Board reviews the
Group's business and financial performance on a quarterly

basis.

J The internal audit department shall independently evaluate
the adequacy and effectiveness of key controls including
financial, operational and compliance controls and risk
management functions. The internal audit function reports
major findings and recommendations, if any, to the Audit

Committee on a quarterly basis.

Assessment of internal control system

The Board has assessed the effectiveness of internal control
system by considering reviews performed by the Audit Committee
and management, and the findings of both internal and external
auditors. In undertaking this assessment, the Board also engaged
an independent risk consulting firm to assist in the execution of
internal audit plan throughout the year ended 31st March, 2010.

The Board has annually reviewed and considered the adequacy
of resources, qualifications and experience of staff of the Group’s
accounting and financial reporting function, and the Group’s

training programmes and budgets.
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Audit Committee

The Audit Committee is composed of all the three Independent
Non-Executive Directors of the Company. The Audit Committee
has reviewed with management the accounting principles and
practice adopted by the Group and discussed auditing, internal
control and financial reporting matters, including the review of

financial statements for the year ended 31st March, 2010.

The Audit Committee has reviewed the annual and interim
results of 2010 and was content that the accounting policies of
the Group are in accordance with the generally accepted

accounting practices in Hong Kong.

Attendance for the three meetings held by the Audit Committee

during the year is set out below:

Audit Committee Members Meetings Attended/Held

Mr. Tam King Ching, Kenny (Chairman) 3/3
Mr. Chan Yue Kwong, Michael 3/3
Mr. Kwok Lam-Kwong, Larry, 88s, Jp 1/3

Auditors’ remuneration

The financial statements for the year have been audited by
PricewaterhouseCoopers. During the vyear, remuneration of
approximately HK$1,937,000 was payable to PricewaterhouseCoopers
for the provision of audit services. In addition, approximately
HK$570,000 was payable to PricewaterhouseCoopers for other non-
audit services. The non-audit services mainly consist of tax

compliance and advisory services.

Communication with shareholders

Communication with shareholders is given high priority.
Extensive information about the Group’s activities is provided in
the Annual Report and the Interim Report. The Group’s website
provides regularly updated Group information to shareholders.
The Company also arranges regular site visit for investors and
media. Enquiries on matters relating to shareholdings and the
business of the Group are welcome, and are dealt with in an
informative and timely manner. The Group encourages all

shareholders to attend annual general meeting.

On behalf of the Board
Cheung Chi Shing, Charles

Company Secretary

Hong Kong, 21st July, 2010
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DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

EEREREEEER

Executive Directors HITES

Mr. Lam Kwong Yu, aged 63, has been an Executive
Director of the Company since 1992. He is the Chairman
and Chief Executive Officer of the Company and is the
founder of the Group. He holds a Master Degree in
Business Administration from the National University of
Singapore. Mr. Lam has been in community work in China
and Hong Kong for many years. He is a member of the
11th National Committee of the Chinese People’s Political
Consultative Conference, a member of Selection
Committee for the 1st and 2nd Government of HKSAR and
a committee member of the 2006 Election Committee
Subsector Elections, a director of Chinese Overseas
Friendship Association, an Adjunct Professor of City
University of Hong Kong, Director of Guangzhou Jinan
University and a Guest Professor of Wuhan University and
South China Normal University. Mr. Lam has received
several prominent awards including ‘“Hong Kong Ten
Outstanding Young Persons Award 1986/, ‘Young
Industrialist Award of Hong Kong 1988, ‘“Hong Kong
Entrepreneurs Award 1990”, “‘Outstanding Achievements
Award” of the ‘“Hong Kong Print Award 1999” and
“Medal of Honor (M.H.)” from the government of the
Hong Kong Special Administrative Region in 2002. Mr.
Lam has over 44 years’ experience in the printing industry
and is responsible for the overall policy making and

business development of the Group.

Ms. Yeung Chui, aged 63, has been an Executive Director
of the Company since 1992. She is the Vice Chairman of
the Company and is one of the founders of the Group.
Ms. Yeung is responsible for the finance, administration,
personnel and purchasing functions of the Group. She has
over 44 vyears’ experience in the printing industry. Ms.

Yeung Chui is the spouse of Mr. Lam Kwong Yu.

Mr. Tai Tzu Shi, Angus, aged 53, has been an Executive
Director of the Company since 1993. He is currently the
Senior Vice President and Chief Technical Officer of the
Group. He graduated from the Graphics Art Department of
the Chinese Culture University of Taiwan in 1978 and has

over 30 years’ experience in the printing industry.
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Mr. Cheung Chi Shing, Charles, aged 54, has been an
Executive Director of the Company since 2000 and the
Company Secretary since 1999. He is currently the Senior
Vice President of the Group. Mr Cheung joined the Group
in early 1997 and is responsible for the overall finance
function of the Group. He has held various senior
positions in finance, accounting and auditing fields for
more than 24 years. Mr. Cheung graduated from The
Hongkong Polytechnic University and is an Associate
Member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and a Fellow Member of The Association of

Chartered Certified Accountants.

Mr. Lim Pheck Wan, Richard, aged 44 was appointed as
an Executive Director of the Company with effect from
28th September, 2007. He is currently the Senior Vice
President (Marketing and Sales) of the Group. He joined
the Group in 1994 and is responsible for the overall sales
and marketing function. He has held various senior
position within the Group, and before his current
appointment was the General Manager for its Singapore
and Suzhou subsidiaries. Mr Lim holds a Master of
Science Degree in International Marketing from the
University of Strathclyde, Glasgow, and has more than 21

years experience in the printing industry.
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Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Chan Yue Kwong, Michael, aged 58, Independent
Non-Executive Director, Chairman of the Remuneration
Committee and a member of the Audit Committee of the
Company. He has been an Independent Non-Executive
Director of the Company since 1993. Mr. Chan is the
Executive Chairman of the publicly-listed Cafe” de Coral
Holdings Limited in Hong Kong. He is also a Non-
Executive Director of Tao Heung Holdings Limited, an
Independent Non-Executive Director of Kingboard
Laminates Holdings Limited and Pacific Textiles Holdings
Limited, all of which are listed in Hong Kong. Mr. Chan
has ceased to be a Non-Executive Director since October
2007 of the delisted Carats Limited (formerly known as
Daka Designs Limited) in Singapore. He holds a double
major degree in Sociology and Political Science, a Masters
degree in City Planning from the University of Manitoba,
an Honorary Doctorate Degree in Business Administration,
and is bestowed as Honorary Fellow from Lingnan
University. Mr. Chan serves on the executive committee of
the Hong Kong Retail Management Association, the
general committee of the Employers’ Federation of Hong
Kong, the council of the Hong Kong Management
Association, an appointed member of the Quality Tourism
Services Association, as well as being appointed by the
HKSAR Government as member of the Hong Kong
Tourism Board and member of the Provisional Minimum
Wage Commission. Besides, he is also the Honorary
Chairman of the Hong Kong Institute of Marketing and the
Chairman of the Business Enterprise Management Centre
of the Hong Kong Management Association. He has many
years of professional experience in the public sector and
over 25 years’ managerial experience in the food and

catering industry.

Mr. Kwok Lam-Kwong, Larry, BBs, jp, aged 54,
Independent Non-Executive Director, member of the
Remuneration Committee and Audit Committee of the
Company. He was appointed as an Independent Non-
Executive Director of the Company in July 2004. Mr.
Kwok is a practising solicitor in Hong Kong, and is
currently the Managing Partner, Mainland China and Hong
Kong of Mallesons Stephen Jaques. He is qualified to
practise as a solicitor in Australia, England and Wales and
Singapore. He is also qualified as a CPA in Hong Kong

and Australia and a Chartered Accountant in England and
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Wales. He graduated from the University of Sydney,
Australia with bachelor’s degrees in economics and laws
respectively as well as a master’s degree in laws. Mr.
Kwok is currently an Independent Non-Executive Director
of a number of publicly listed companies in Hong Kong,
namely, Pacific Andes International Holdings Limited,
Shenyin Wanguo (HK) Limited, Carry Wealth Holdings
Limited, Cafe” de Coral Holdings Limited as well as a
Non-Executive Director of First Shanghai Investments
Limited. He resigned as a Director of Western Mining Co.
Ltd (a company listed in Shanghai) with effect from 30th
March, 2009.

Mr. Tam King Ching, Kenny, aged 61, Independent Non-
Executive Director, Chairman of the Audit Committee and
a member of the Remuneration Committee of the
Company. He was appointed as an Independent Non-
Executive Director of the Company in July 2004. Mr. Tam
graduated from Concordia University, Canada with a
bachelor degree in commerce. He is a qualified
accountant in Hong Kong and Canada. Mr. Tam is a
practicing accountant in Hong Kong and is the owner of
Kenny Tam & Co., Certified Public Accountants. He is
also a registered Insolvency Practitioner of the Official
Receiver’s Office. Mr. Tam has substantial experience in
the accounting and insolvency fields. He serves on a
number of advisory committees in the Accountancy and
Insolvency Profession and has been active in community
work in Hong Kong for many years. Mr. Tam sits on the
board as Independent Non-Executive Director of a number
of publicly listed companies in Hong Kong, namely
Shougang Concord Grand (Group) Limited, Kingmaker
Footwear Holdings Limited, CCT Telecom Holdings
Limited, Van Shung Chong Holdings Limited and North
Asia Strategic Holdings Limited. He resigned as an
Independent Non-Executive Director of King Stone Energy
Group Limited (Formerly Yun Sky Chemical (International)
Holdings Limited) with effect from 4th September, 2008.
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PRICEWATERHOUSE(COPERS

BB KESTEI S B

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
STARLITE HOLDINGS LIMITED

(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Starlite
Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (together,
the “Group”) set out on pages 48 to 132, which comprise the
consolidated and company statements of financial position as at
31st March, 2010, and the consolidated income statement, the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income, the
consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated
cash flow statement for the year then ended, and a summary of

significant accounting policies and other explanatory notes.

Directors’ responsibility for the financial statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
and the true and fair presentation of these consolidated financial
statements in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance. This responsibility includes designing,
implementing and maintaining internal control relevant to the
preparation and the true and fair presentation of financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due
to fraud or error; selecting and applying appropriate accounting
policies; and making accounting estimates that are reasonable in

the circumstances.

Auditor’s responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated
financial statements based on our audit and to report our opinion
solely to you, as a body, in accordance with Section 90 of the
Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda, and for no other purpose. We
do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any

other person for the contents of this report.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
22nd Floor, Prince’s Building
Central, Hong Kong
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We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants. Those standards require that we
comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit
to obtain reasonable assurance as to whether the financial

statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence
about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements.
The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment,
including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of
the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making
those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control
relevant to the entity’s preparation and true and fair presentation
of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s
internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the
appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the directors, as
well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial

statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient

and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true
and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company and of the
Group as at 3T1st March, 2010 and of the Group’s profit and
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards and have been properly
prepared in accordance with the disclosure requirements of the

Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

PricewaterhouseCoopers

Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 21st July, 2010

BFPCREESSHMACEMNETEETERE
TEZ ELENBERKMETEERE  WHRE
EATEZ NEERTHSVBREARESTEA
] E RERRR AL -

ERSRATREFUNEREBEMBHRRMEESER
BEEHNNELERE - TEEOREFIURNZBE
B HET - BEFEHNREFRERM BRI B HRE
ﬁﬁéﬁ&ﬁﬁu%ﬂ@oﬁﬁﬁa%@@%'ﬁ
@%%Eﬁ%“ﬂ%@&ﬁﬁﬁ“$MWﬁW%ﬁ
RIEBEOREZG URAEEMNERREF BX
%%%ﬂﬂ%Wﬂhﬁ%ﬂm%%aﬁ°%&ﬁ@
BHBEEMRANSTRENREERAELS
BEEANSEE URFEYBRINOEREIR
7.

BHAEE BRMMESHERERR
REMANEZEREHRER-

7T 2 A3

&
i3
=

=
=

ﬁﬁ%ﬁ‘%%”AW%ﬁ%Eﬁﬁﬁ%ﬁﬁﬁi
HREEMATHRBREAFAREEEN -
EEHE+*EW$%#ﬁ&ﬂx@ﬁi§E¢¢
EEMEkReRE  YERBREB(RFEI)D
BEREZRRE -

BEAAERTAERH
B

&5 - ZFTF+A=-+—H

47



For the year ended 31st March, 2010

Revenue
Cost of sales

Gross profit

Other gains — net

Selling and distribution costs
General and administrative expenses

Operating profit
Finance income

Finance costs

Finance costs — net

Profit before income tax
Income tax expense

Profit for the year attributable to the
equity holders of the Company

Earnings per share for profit attributable
to the equity holders of the Company

during the year
(expressed in HK cents per share)
— Basic

— Diluted

Dividends
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The notes on page 54 to 132 are an integral part of these

consolidated financial statements.
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2010 2009
HK$/000 HK$'000
FExT FHET
1,182,639 1,303,404
(955,219) (1,011,864)
227,420 291,540
308 1,823
(59,637) (63,060)
(113,864) (144,535)
54,227 85,768
295 686
(7,563) (17,743)
(7,268) (17,057)
46,959 68,711
(5,747) (9,113)
41,212 59,598
7.92 11.92

7.80 11.92
13,081 12,909
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For the year ended 31st March, 2010

Profit for the year

Other comprehensive income:

Increase/(decrease) in fair value of available-for-
sale financial assets

Currency translation differences

Other comprehensive income/(loss) for the year

Total comprehensive income for the year
attributable to equity holders of the Company

The notes on page 54 to 132 are an integral part of these

consolidated financial statements.
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As at 31st March, 2010

ASSETS
Non-current assets
Leasehold land and
land use rights
Property, plant and
equipment
Prepayments for property,
plant and equipment
Investments in and amounts
due from subsidiaries
Available-for-sale financial
assets
Deferred income tax assets

Current assets
Inventories
Trade and bill receivables
Prepayments and deposits
Tax recoverable
Derivative financial

instruments

Bank balances and cash

LIABILITIES
Current liabilities
Borrowings
Finance lease obligations,
current portion
Trade and bill payables
Accruals and other payables

Amounts due to subsidiaries

Derivative financial
instruments

Current income tax
liabilities

Net current assets/(liabilities)

Total assets less current
liabilities

Note
B 5%
BE
*(RBEE
RELtmL
T b {5 A 4 15
ME - BERZE
16
mE - -BE R
B 3=PA LN
RIFB AR ZIEE
X W A 17
HEENBEE
18
EERGHEE 26
REBEE
TE 19
BIRUEFEEE 20
BARERES 20
EIEQERECE
TEe®MITA
21
RITEFRRS 22
a1
REEE
BME 23
BN ER
B EA &0 1 24
BHENERREE 25
B aEREM
JE A 3K
FERTHI B2 B R IA 17
TESRMIA
21
BEmEHAaR
REBEE/(BR)
T
HEERRBAERE

R-_ZE—FTF=A=+—H

Group Company
L3 AL

2010 2009 2010 2009
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
TER FTET TER TAT
29,555 30,011 — —
439,977 475,130 — —
14,703 2,345 — —
— — 247,789 279,609
1,251 936 — —
5,816 3,835 — —
491,302 512,257 247,789 279,609
132,152 108,538 — —
210,561 172,744 — —
14,731 8,256 897 693
1,940 3,392 151 —
72 639 — —
184,976 113,694 1,204 112
544,432 407,263 2,252 805
153,357 139,251 — —
— 727 — —
180,678 102,283 — —
57,881 57,828 955 868
— — 56,639 79,882
3,502 3,930 — —
27,404 27,367 — —
422,822 331,386 57,594 80,750
121,610 75,877 (55,342) (79,945)
612,912 588,134 192,447 199,664



As at 31st March, 2010

Non-current liabilities
Borrowings

Deferred income tax
liabilities

Net assets

EQUITY

Capital and reserves
attributable to the equity
holders of the Company
Share capital
Reserves

Shareholders’ equity

kRBEE
BE
BIEMGEHAR

EERE

IR A f 25

ARATEREE
BAEER
AR B

B

&

BR M £

Lam Kwong Yu
Mk
Chairman

E

Note
B 5

23

26

27
29

R-_ZE—FTF=A=+—H

Group Company
% e
2010 2009 2010 2009
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
TR TET TR TET
55,996 72,754 — —
12,148 13,495 — —
68,144 86,249 — _
544,768 501,885 192,447 199,664
52,398 51,636 52,398 51,636
492,370 450,249 140,049 148,028
544,768 501,885 192,447 199,664
Yeung Chui
B2
Vice Chairman
HIERE

The notes on page 54 to 132 are an integral part of these

consolidated financial statements.
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A
A

H

For the year ended 31st March, 2010 H

TE=A=T—ALFE

Attributable to the equity holders of the Company

RAREERFE AL
Share capital Reserves Total
&S & HEt
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
TET TET TR
Balance at 1st April, 2008 R-ZBENFNA—-—HER 43,029 390,130 433,159
Profit for the year F R F — 59,598 59,598
Other comprehensive income Hi 2wl
— Decrease in fair value of — HEEVBEEZ
available-for-sale financial RNFER D
assets — (457) (457)
— Currency translation differences ~ — JEH Z2 — (7,250) (7,250)
Total comprehensive income FRNEENEEHE
for the year — 51,891 51,891
Issue of shares under open offer NREEETRG 8,607 20,220 28,827
Employee share options scheme EE R
— Share based payments — B X B — 917 917
Dividends paid B E — (12,909 (12,909
8,607 60,119 68,726
Balance at 31st March, 2009 R-EZAE=-ZA=+—-H&% 51,636 450,249 501,885
Balance at 1st April, 2009 R-ZEZBhAENA—HER 51,636 450,249 501,885
Profit for the year F R A — 41,212 41,212
Other comprehensive income HAh 2w s
— Increase in fair value of — AR EMBEE
available-for-sale financial 2 ~FEE N
assets — 315 315
— Currency translation differences — EHER — 11,154 11,154
Total comprehensive income FRE2EKELE
for the year — 52,681 52,681
Employee share options scheme EEBREE
— lIssue of shares upon exercise — THFEEERED
of employee share options BT R D 762 2,235 2,997
— Share based payments — RO XS — 171 171
Dividends paid BERRE — (12,966) (12,966)
762 42,121 42,883
Balance at 31st March, 2010 R-E-EBE=ZA=+-B#&H 52,398 492,370 544,768
The notes on page 54 to 132 are an integral part of these JAFEs4FBZE132BE M A HESAMEREMER

consolidated financial statements. 25 o



For the year ended 31st March, 2010

Cash flows from operating activities
Cash inflow generated from operations
Interest paid
Hong Kong profits tax paid
Overseas income tax paid
Overseas income tax refunded
Hong Kong profits tax refunded

Net cash generated from operating activities

Cash flows from investing activities
Purchase of property, plant and equipment
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant
and equipment

Prepayments for property, plant and
equipment

Interest received

Decrease in short-term bank deposits with

maturity over 3 months
Net cash used in investing activities

Cash flows from financing activities

Proceeds from exercise of employee share
options

Proceeds from issuance of shares under
open offer

New long-term bank loans

Repayment of long-term bank loans

New short-term bank loans

Repayment of short-term bank loans

Repayment of capital element of finance

lease obligations
Dividends paid

Net cash used in financing activities

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash

equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents on 1st April
Exchange gains/(losses) on cash and bank

overdrafts

Cash and cash equivalents on 31st March

The notes on page 54 to 132 are an integral part of these

consolidated financial statements.

&=

A

A

H

Note
Bt 5

REFHZRERE
REEEZBRERA 30(a)
ERNHE
ENEBENEH
BN HIA
EREBIIIA
EREBEBNEH

ReRPELZREEER

REFBHZ2HERE

BEME BWFELRME

HEME BERRBZ

BIESEI N 30(h)
M BB RREZAMNR

SR EYS)
BE=EADH
EHRIT OB

RERDFAZESEE

MEEBZ2HERE
BETEBREZ
P15 YA
NFEBEEHRTROBA

BT REAER
BERITRAER
BRI E R
BERITEMER
BEMBBEROZAEEHD
ENEE
METHMBZREFHE

REeRALEEZ
BEE M R

WA-BZRERALEHE
ReR|ITELZ
BE 5 Wz (518D

ZA=+t-HBZRERREEE 22

B -

P-TE=ASt—ALEE

2010 2009
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHET
132,311 167,638
(7,991) (13,813)
(9,875) (9,455)
(2,185) (6,093)

— 988
4,305 -
116,565 139,265
(25,976) (64,949)
234 150
(12,358) (2,345)
295 686
4,673 6,604
(33,132) (59,854)
2,997 —
— 28,827
32,000 42,900
(75,064) (80,745)
221,163 312,435
(176,866) (370,081)
(775) (2,524)
(12,966) (12,909)
9,511) (82,097)
73,922 (2,686)
80,333 87,123
6,288 (4,104)
160,543 80,333
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General information

Starlite Holdings Limited (the “Company”) is an investment
holding company. Its subsidiaries are principally engaged
in the printing and manufacturing of packaging materials,
labels, and paper products, including environmental

friendly paper products.

The Company was incorporated in Bermuda on 3rd
November, 1992, as an exempted company with limited
liability under the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda. The
address of its registered office is Canon’s Court, 22
Victoria Street, Hamilton HM 12, Bermuda. The Company’s
shares have been listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong

Kong Limited since 1993.

The Company’s directors regard Best Grade Advisory
Limited, a company incorporated in the British Virgin

Islands, as the ultimate holding company.

These consolidated financial statements are presented in
Hong Kong dollars, unless otherwise stated. These
consolidated financial statements have been approved for

issue by the Board of Directors on 21st July, 2010.

Summary of significant accounting policies

The principal accounting policies applied in the
preparation of these consolidated financial statements are
set out below. These policies have been consistently

applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated.

2.1 Basis of preparation
The consolidated financial statements of the Group
have been prepared in accordance with Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRS”). They have
been prepared under the historical cost convention,
as modified by the revaluation of available-for-sale
financial assets and financial assets and financial
liabilities (including derivative financial instruments)

at fair value through profit or loss.

—REHR

EXEBERARUTARRD DEREZER R
Al-HNBARAMNEIZEBRIORREES
ik 2% hEBRER BERFREEE

o
an °

ARABRR—NANZF+—A=ZBREAREE
ANRMEGIYRBREZMKN I RER2E
MR A A) o E 9 =& ik ACanon’s Court,
22 Victoria Street, Hamilton HM 12,
Bermuda - B — NN =FRBARBRMHNES
BERXHMBRARER LT -

KA FEEZHBest Grade Advisory Limited
(ZARREBHRBRES MK L) RER
Al Z REEER AT -

BEEERIN WEGEYBBRRUAELE
e RZZB—ZFLA-_+—-—HEARAIZE
ERCOHETIBRNEGRAFBTHRE -

EREHBREMERE
REUSGAVHERETEANEE T K
FHFIMT - RABEAN  LEBRRERE
5|2 A FEEHER -

2.1 RBEEHE
REBREZEFEVBRERDIBIEZEY
BHREEN(EEHBRELEND R
B RAVBRERERELRNER
2 oWHAEHHENKEE KA FE
FERBRTENVBEERBAGE (R
BUTETR) ZEMMELRIEE -



2 Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.1

Basis of preparation (Continued)

The preparation of financial statements in conformity
with  HKFRS requires the use of certain critical
accounting estimates. It also requires management
to exercise its judgement in the process of applying
the Group’s accounting policies. The areas involving
a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or
areas where assumptions and estimates are
significant to the consolidated financial statements

are disclosed in note 4.

The following revised standards, new interpretations,
and amendments to standards and interpretations
are mandatory for the year ended 31st March, 2010.
The Group has adopted these revised standards,
new interpretations, and amendments to standards
and interpretations where considered appropriate
and relevant to its operations. The adoption was not
resulted in substantial changes to the Group’s

accounting policies or financial results.

. HKFRS 1
of Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards”

(Amendment), “First-time adoption

. HKFRS 2 (Amendment), “Share-based payment

— vesting conditions and cancellation”

. HKFRS 7 “Financial

instruments: Disclosures”

(Amendment),

o HKFRS 8 (Amendment), “Operating segments”

. HKAS 1 (Revised), “Presentation of financial

statements”

. HKAS 23 (Revised), “Borrowing costs”

. HKAS 32 “Financial

instruments: Presentation”

(Amendment),
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2

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.1

Basis of preparation (Continued)
. HKAS 39

instruments: Recognition and measurement,

(Amendment), “Financial

amendment on embedded derivatives”
. HK(IFRIC) — Int 2 (Amendment), “Members’
shares in co-operative entities and similar

instruments”

. HK(IFRIC) — Int 9

“Reassessment of embedded derivatives”

(Amendment),

. HK(FRIC) — Int 13, “Customer loyalty
programmes”
J HK(IFRIC) — Int 15, “Agreements for the

construction of real estate”

. HK(FRIC) — Int 16,

investment in a foreign operation”

“Hedges of a net

. HK(IFRIC) — Int 18, “Transfers of assets from

customers”

The adoption of HKAS 1 (Revised), “Presentation of
financial statements” requires “non-owner changes
in equity” to be presented separately from “owner
changes in equity”. Management has decided to
present two statements, a consolidated income
statement and a consolidated statement of

comprehensive income.

HKFRS 7 (Amendment), “Financial instruments —
Disclosures”, requires enhanced disclosures about
fair value measurement and liquidity risk. In
particular, the amendment requires disclosure of fair
value measurements by level of a fair value
measurement hierarchy. HKFRS 7 (Amendment) only
results in additional disclosures; there is no impact
on the reported results and financial position of the

Group.
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Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.1

Basis of preparation (Continued)

HKFRS 8, “Operating segments”, which replaces
HKAS 14, “Segment reporting”, requires a
‘management approach’ under which segment
information is presented on the same basis as that
used for internal reporting purposes. HKFRS 8 has

not affected the Group’s reportable segments.

The following standards, revised standards, new
interpretations, and amendments to standards and
interpretation have been issued but are not
mandatory for the year ended 31st March, 2010

and have not been early adopted:

. HKFRS 1 (Revised), “First-time adoption of
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards”,
effective for annual periods beginning on or
after 1st July, 2009

. HKFRS 2 (Amendment), “Share-based
payment”, effective for annual periods

beginning on or after Tst July, 2009

. HKFRS 3 (Revised), “Business combinations”,
effective for annual periods beginning on or
after 1st July, 2009

o HKFRS 8 (Amendment), “Operating segments”,
effective for annual periods beginning on or
after 1st January, 2010

o HKFRS 9, “Financial instruments”, effective
for annual periods beginning on or after 1st

January, 2013

. HKAS 1 (Amendment), “Presentation of
financial statements”, effective for annual
periods beginning on or after 1st January,
2010

. HKAS 7 (Amendment), “Cash flow
statements”, effective for annual periods

beginning on or after 1st January, 2010
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2

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.1

Basis of preparation (Continued)

HKAS 17 (Amendment), “Leases”, effective for
annual periods beginning on or after Tst
January, 2010

HKAS 18 (Amendment), “Revenue”, effective
for annual periods beginning on or after 1st

January, 2010

HKAS 24 (Revised),

disclosures”, effective for annual periods

“Related party

beginning on or after 1st January, 2011

HKAS 27 (Revised), “Consolidated and

separate financial statements”, effective for
annual periods beginning on or after Tst July,

2009

HKAS 36 (Amendment),

assets”, effective for annual periods beginning

“Impairment of

on or after 1st January, 2010

HKAS 38 (Amendment), “Intangible assets”,
effective for annual periods beginning on or
after 1st July, 2010

HKAS 39 (Amendment), “Financial
instruments: Recognition and measurement,
amendment on eligible hedged items”,
effective for annual periods beginning on or
after 1st July, 2009

HK(IFRIC) — Int 14 (Amendment), “The limit
on a defined benefit asset, minimum funding
requirements and their interaction”, effective
for annual periods beginning on or after 1st

January, 2011

HK(IFRIC) — Int 16, “Hedges of a net
investment in a foreign operation”, effective
for annual periods beginning on or after 1st

July, 2009
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2

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.1

2.2

Basis of preparation (Continued)
. HK(IFRIC) — Int 17, “Distributions of non-
cash assets to owners”, effective for annual

periods beginning on or after 1st July, 2009

. HK(IFRIC) — Int 18, “Transfers of assets from
customers”, effective for annual periods

beginning on or after Tst July, 2009

. HK(IFRIC) — Int 19, “Extinguishing financial
liabilities with equity instruments”, effective
for annual periods beginning on or after 1st
July, 2010

The Group is currently assessing the impact of the
adoption of the new standard, other revised
standards, new interpretations, and amendments to
standards and interpretation above to the Group in
future periods. The effect of the adoption of HKFRS
3 (Revised) and HKAS 27 (Revised) to the results
and financial position of the Group when they
become effective will depend on the incidence and
timing of any business combinations occurring on
or after Tst April, 2010.

In addition, the Group is in the process of making
an assessment of the impact of adoption of the
Improvements to HKFRSs, published in October
2008 (effective for annual periods beginning on or
after 1st July, 2009) and Improvements to HKFRSs
2009, published in May 2009 (effective for annual
periods beginning on or after 1st July, 2009, or on
or after Tst January, 2010). So far, it has concluded
none have a material impact on the Group’s

financial statements.

Consolidation
The consolidated financial statements include the
financial statements of the Company and all of its

subsidiaries made up to 31st March.
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2

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.2

Consolidation (Continued)

Subsidiaries are all entities over which the Group
has the power to govern the financial and operating
policies generally accompanying a shareholding of
more than one half of the voting rights. The
existence and effect of potential voting rights that
are currently exercisable or convertible are
considered when assessing whether the Group
controls another entity. Subsidiaries are fully
consolidated from the date on which control is
transferred to the Group. They are de-consolidated

from the date that control ceases.

The purchase method of accounting is used to
account for the acquisition of subsidiaries by the
Group. The cost of an acquisition is measured as
the fair value of the assets given, equity instruments
issued and liabilities incurred or assumed at the
date of exchange, plus costs directly attributable to
the acquisition. Identifiable assets acquired and
liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a
business combination are measured initially at their
fair values at the acquisition date, irrespective of
the extent of any minority interest. The excess of
the cost of acquisition over the fair value of the
Group’s share of the identifiable net assets acquired
is recorded as goodwill. If the cost of acquisition is
less than the fair value of the net assets of the
subsidiary acquired, the difference is recognised

directly in the consolidated income statement.

Inter-company transactions, balances and unrealised
gains on transactions between group companies are
eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated
unless the Group provides evidence of impairment.
Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been
changed where necessary to ensure consistency with

the policies adopted by the Group.

In the Company’s statement of financial position,
the investments in subsidiaries are stated at cost less
provision for impairment losses (note 2.7). The
results of subsidiaries are accounted for by the
Company on the basis of dividend received and

receivable.
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.3

2.4

Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner
consistent with the internal reporting provided to
The chief

operating decision-maker, who is responsible for

the chief operating decision-maker.

allocating resources and assessing performance of
the operating segments, has been identified as the
Chairman/Chief Executive Officer that makes

strategic decisions.

Foreign currency translation
(a)  Functional and presentation currency
Items included in the financial statements of
each of the Group’s entities are measured
using the currency of the primary economic
environment in which the entity operates (the
“functional currency”). The consolidated
financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollars (“HK$”), which is the Company’s
functional and the Group’s presentation

currency.

(b)  Transactions and balances
Foreign currency transactions are translated
into the functional currency using the
exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the
transactions or valuation where items are re-
measured. Foreign exchange gains and losses
resulting from the settlement of such
transactions and from the translation at year-
end exchange rates of monetary assets and
liabilities denominated in foreign currencies
are recognised in the consolidated income

statement.

All foreign exchange gains and losses are
presented in the consolidated income

statement within ‘other gains — net’.
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.4 Foreign currency translation (Continued)

(c)

Group companies

The results and financial position of all the
group entities (none of which has the
currency of a hyperinflationary economy) that
have a functional currency different from the
presentation currency are translated into the

presentation currency as follows:

(i) assets and liabilities for each statement
of financial position presented are

translated at the closing rate at the

date of that statement of financial

position;

each

(ii) income and expenses for

consolidated income statement are
translated at average exchange rates
(unless this average is not a reasonable
approximation of the cumulative effect
of the

rates prevailing on the

transaction dates, in which case
income and expenses are translated at

the dates of the transactions); and

(i) all resulting exchange differences are

recognised as a separate component of

equity.
On consolidation, exchange differences
arising from the translation of the net
investment in foreign operations are taken to
shareholders” equity. When a foreign
operation is partially disposed of or sold,
exchange differences that were recorded in
equity are recognised in the consolidated
income statement as part of the gain or loss

on sale.
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Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.5

2.6

Leasehold land and land use rights

The up-front prepayments made for leasehold land
and land use rights are accounted for as operating
leases. They are expensed in the income statement
on a straight-line basis over the periods of the lease,
or when there is impairment, the impairment is

expensed in the consolidated income statement.

Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment other than
construction in progress are stated at historical cost
less accumulated depreciation and accumulated
impairment losses, if any. Historical cost includes
expenditure that is directly attributable to the

acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in an asset’s carrying
amount or recognised as a separate asset, as
appropriate, only when it is probable that future
economic benefits associated with the item will
flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be
measured reliably. The carrying amount of the
replaced part is derecognised. All other repairs and
maintenance are charged in the consolidated
income statement during the period in which they

are incurred.

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment is
calculated using the straight-line method to allocate
their costs less their residual values over their
estimated useful lives, as follows:
— Buildings 25 to 50 years
— Plant and machinery 5 to 10 years
— Furniture and equipment 5 to 10 years
— Motor vehicles 5 years
The assets’ residual values and useful lives are
reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each end

of reporting period.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down
immediately to its recoverable amount if its carrying
amount is greater than its estimated recoverable

amount (note 2.7).
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2

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.6

2.7

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

Construction in progress comprises buildings on
which construction work has not been completed
and plant and machinery on which installation work
has not been completed. It is carried at cost which
includes construction and installation expenditures
and other direct costs less any impairment losses.
On completion, construction in progress is
transferred to the appropriate categories of property,
plant and equipment at cost less accumulated
impairment losses. No depreciation is provided for
construction in progress until it is completed and

available for use.

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by
comparing the proceeds with the carrying amounts
and are recognised in the consolidated income

statement.

Impairment of investments in subsidiaries and
non-financial assets

Assets that have an indefinite useful life or have not
yet been made available for use are not subject to
amortisation and are tested annually for impairment.
Assets are reviewed for impairment whenever events
or changes in circumstances indicate that the
carrying amount may not be recoverable. An
impairment loss is recognised for the amount by
which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its
recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the
higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and
value in use. For the purposes of assessing
impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels
for which there are separately identifiable cash
flows (cash-generating units). Non-financial assets
other than goodwill that suffer an impairment are
reviewed for possible reversal of the impairment at

each reporting date.

2

EZEMBEME (&)

2.6

2.7

M- BERRE S
FRIRERETIRMATHRNEBTR
MARFTER L H O H2S WK A AR
RABRREERLZEMEMBERZRKA
BMRERBE EERETIRETKE &8
AR 2 HEBBEEREEEME
BEIZBOEEF ERTIREEBEEEA
EHFMBEETR LA ERE RS T E
rERE -

HERSREESEBLERAERME
REEE  TRAGFARERAER -

REBRrARERFUBEEZ
{8
BEEEAHMRADAAHREANEE
BAEHRERE BREEETGFHA
EEEL-RBERG - -BENBEM
PRIBFLCBERHRREEEER
i AEBERFEZEENRERS
Ro-BEEBRERSEERTEBSE
A EEENERE - JREEEREE
RFEBEEXRNENER BEEH
BEZHNRSE AFEEERE
EERUBYHESEREREGRS
EEXEM)NKRNEME D -0 EER
SHE HeHEHRREZHEYBKE
E(BERINFEHFGE ABEREH
BEF R ERE -



2

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.7

2.8

Impairment of investments in subsidiaries and
non-financial assets (Continued)

Impairment testing of the investments in subsidiaries
is required upon receiving dividends from these
investments if the dividend exceeds the total
comprehensive income of the subsidiary in the
period the dividend is declared or if the carrying
amount of the investment in the separate financial
statements exceeds the carrying amount in the
consolidated financial statements of the investee’s

net assets including goodwill.

Financial assets

The Group classifies its financial assets in the
following categories: at fair value through profit or
loss, loans and receivables and available-for-sale.
The classification depends on the purpose for which
the financial assets were acquired. Management
determines the classification of its financial assets at

initial recognition.

(a) Financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss
Financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss are financial assets held for trading. A
financial asset is classified in this category if
acquired principally for the purpose of selling
in the short term. Derivatives are also
categorised as held for trading unless they
are designated as hedges. Assets in this

category are classified as current assets.

(b) Loans and receivables
Loans and receivables are non-derivative
financial assets with fixed or determinable
payments that are not quoted in an active
market. They are included in current assets,
except for maturities greater than 12 months
after the end of the reporting period. These
are classified as non-current assets. The
Group’s loans and receivables comprise trade
and bill receivables and bank balances and

cash in the statement of financial position.
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2

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.8

Financial assets (Continued)

(c) Available-for-sale financial assets
Available-for-sale financial assets are non-
derivatives that are either designated in this
category or not classified in any of the other
categories. They are included in non-current
assets unless the investment matures or
management intends to dispose of it within

12 months of the end of the reporting period.

Regular purchases and sales of financial assets are
recognised on trade-date — the date on which the
Group commits to purchase or sell the asset.
Investments are initially recognised at fair value plus
transaction costs for all financial assets not carried
at fair value through profit or loss. Financial assets
carried at fair value through profit or loss are
initially recognised at fair value, and transaction
costs are expensed in the consolidated income
statement. Financial assets are derecognised when
the rights to receive cash flows from the investments
have expired or have been transferred and the
Group has transferred substantially all risks and
rewards of ownership. Available-for-sale financial
assets and financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss are subsequently carried at fair value.
Loans and receivables are subsequently carried at

amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Changes in the fair value of non-monetary securities
classified as available-for-sale financial assets are

recognised in other comprehensive income.

When securities classified as available-for-sale are
sold or impaired, the accumulated fair value
adjustments recognised in equity are included in the
consolidated income statement. Interest on available-
for-sale securities calculated using the effective
interest method is recognised in the consolidated
income statement. Dividends on available-for-sale
equity instruments are recognised in the
consolidated income statement when the Group’s

right to receive payments is established.
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Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.9 Impairment of financial assets

(a)

Assets carried at amortised cost

The Group assesses at the end of each
reporting period whether there is objective
evidence that a financial asset or group of
financial assets is impaired. A financial asset
or a group of financial assets is impaired and
impairment losses are incurred only if there
is objective evidence of impairment as a
result of one or more events that occurred
after the initial recognition of the asset (a ‘loss
event’) and that loss event (or events) has an
impact on the estimated future cash flows of
the financial asset or group of financial assets

that can be reliably estimated.

The criteria that the Group uses to determine
that there is objective evidence of an

impairment loss include:

. Significant financial difficulty of the

issuer or obligor;

. A breach of contract, such as a default
or delinquency in interest or principal

payments;

. The Group, for economic or legal
reasons relating to the borrower’s
financial difficulty, granting to the
borrower a concession that the lender

would not otherwise consider;

. It becomes probable that the borrower
will enter bankruptcy or other financial

reorganisation;

J The disappearance of an active market
for that financial asset because of

financial difficulties; or
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2

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

29

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(a)

Assets carried at amortised cost (Continued)

. Observable data indicating that there is
a measurable decrease in the estimated
future cash flows from a portfolio of
financial assets since the initial

recognition of those assets, although

the decrease cannot yet be identified
with the individual financial assets in

the portfolio, including:

(i) adverse changes in the payment
status of borrowers in the
portfolio;

(ii) national or local economic
conditions that correlate with
defaults on the assets in the

portfolio.

The Group first assesses whether objective

evidence of impairment exists.

The amount of the loss is measured as the
difference between the asset’s carrying
amount and the present value of estimated
future cash flows (excluding future credit
losses that have not been incurred)
discounted at the financial asset’s original
effective interest rate. The asset's carrying
amount is reduced and the amount of the
loss is recognised in the consolidated income
statement. If a loan has a variable interest
rate, the discount rate for measuring any
impairment loss is the current effective
interest rate determined under the contract.
As a practical expedient, the Group may
measure impairment on the basis of an
instrument’s fair value using an observable

market price.

2

EZEMBEME (&)

2.9

MBEERE (&)
(@)  ABEIHE RS IR i & B ()
s WEEBMNAHMBRANRY

HERR XA RE
ENHaRARREERES
ARENRD  BEZR
D R E R AR
MEHNEREEN 6
AREE

ZERBERAN

N RN =

&)

(i) BEZMAREESBH
EXABEENEH
M B M A RO,

FEBSEFERDFERED
EBER-

FEREREERAEERS R
BEMAARBAEREB(TEE
MAREENARREBER KR
ERMEBREMENEZE - Z
BEERBMETURE MELD
BREESRAUEFEERERER -
MERIFEEIHRERTH
ME-FEECAREBENKER
ELRARETNERERAM
R-GEERERT  AKEAAN
RABRMMmZER RTAD
RFEFERE-



2

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

29

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(a)

(b)

Assets carried at amortised cost (Continued)

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the
impairment loss decreases and the decrease
can be related objectively to an event
occurring after the impairment was recognised
(such as an improvement in the debtor’s
credit rating), the reversal of the previously
recognised impairment loss is recognised in

the consolidated income statement.

Assets classified as available for sale

The Group assesses at the end of each
reporting period whether there is objective
evidence that a financial asset or a group of
financial assets is impaired. For debt securities,
the Group uses the criteria referred to in (a)
above. In the case of equity investments
classified as available for sale, a significant or
prolonged decline in the fair value of the
security below its cost is also evidence that the
assets are impaired. If any such evidence exists
for available-for-sale financial assets, the
cumulative loss — measured as the difference
between the acquisition cost and the current
fair value, less any impairment loss on that
financial asset previously recognised in profit or
loss — is removed from equity and recognised
in the separate consolidated income statement.
Impairment losses recognised in the separate
consolidated income statement on equity
instruments are not reversed through the
separate consolidated income statement. If, in a
subsequent period, the fair value of a debt
instrument classified as available for sale
increases and the increase can be objectively
related to an event occurring after the
impairment loss was recognised in profit or
loss, the impairment loss is reversed through

the separate consolidated income statement.
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2

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.10

2.12

Derivative financial instruments

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value on
the date a derivative contract is entered into and
are subsequently re-measured at their fair value. The
derivative instruments held by the Group do not
qualify for hedge accounting and are accounted for
at fair value through profit or loss. Changes in fair
value of these derivative instruments are recognised

immediately in the consolidated income statement.

Inventories
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Cost is determined using the
weighted average method. The cost of finished
goods and work

in progress comprises raw

materials, direct labour, other direct costs and
related production overheads (based on normal
operating capacity). It excludes borrowing costs. Net
realisable value is the estimated selling price in the
ordinary course of business, less applicable variable

selling expenses.

Trade and bill receivables

Trade receivables are amounts due from customers
for merchandise sold or services performed in the
ordinary course of business. If collection of trade
and bill receivables is expected in one year or less
(or in the normal operating cycle of the business if
longer), they are classified as current assets. If not,

they are presented as non-current assets.

Trade and bill receivables are recognised initially at
fair value and subsequently measured at amortised
cost using the effective interest method, less

provision for impairment.
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Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.13

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash in hand,
deposits held at call with banks, other short-term
highly liquid investments with original maturities of
Bank

overdrafts are shown within borrowings in current

three months or less, and bank overdrafts.
liabilities on the statement of financial position.

Borrowings and borrowing costs

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net
of transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are
subsequently stated at amortised cost; any difference
between the proceeds (net of transaction costs) and
the redemption value is recognised in the
consolidated income statement over the period of

the borrowings using the effective interest method.

Fees paid on the establishment of loan facilities are
recognised as transaction costs of the loan to the
extent that it is probable that some or all of the
facility will be drawn down. In this case, the fee is
deferred until the draw-down occurs. To the extent
there is no evidence that it is probable that some or
all of the facility will be drawn down, the fee is
capitalised as a prepayment for liquidity services
and amortised over the period of the facility to

which it relates.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless
the Group has an unconditional right to defer
settlement of the liability for at least 12 months

after the end of the reporting period.

Borrowing costs incurred for the construction of any
qualifying asset are capitalised during the period of
time that is required to complete and prepare the
asset for its intended use. All other borrowing costs
are charged to the income statement in the period

in which they are incurred.
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2

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.15

Trade payables

Trade payables are obligations to pay for goods or
services that have been acquired in the ordinary
course of business from suppliers. Trade payables
are classified as current liabilities if payment is due
within one year or less (or in the normal operating
cycle of the business if longer). If not, they are

presented as non-current liabilities.

Trade payables are recognised initially at fair value
and subsequently measured at amortised cost using

the effective interest method.

Current and deferred income tax

The tax expense for the period comprises current
and deferred tax. Tax is recognised in the
consolidated income statement, except to the extent
that it items in other

relates to recognised

comprehensive income or directly in equity

respectively.

The current income tax charge is calculated on the
basis of the tax laws enacted or substantively
enacted at the end of reporting period in the
countries where the Company and its subsidiaries
operate and generate taxable income. Management
periodically evaluates positions taken in tax returns
with respect to situations in which applicable tax
regulation is subject to interpretation. It establishes
provisions where appropriate on the basis of

amounts expected to be paid to the tax authorities.
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.16

217

Current and deferred income tax (Continued)

Deferred income tax is recognised, using the
liability method, on temporary differences arising
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and
their carrying amounts in the consolidated financial
statements. However, the deferred income tax is not
accounted for if it arises from initial recognition of
an asset or liability in a transaction other than a
business combination that at the time of the
transaction affects neither accounting nor taxable
profit or loss. Deferred income tax is determined
using tax rates (and laws) that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
period and are expected to apply when the related
deferred income tax asset is realised or the deferred

income tax liability is settled.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised only to
the extent that it is probable that future taxable
profit will be available against which the temporary

differences can be utilised.

Deferred income tax is provided on temporary
differences arising on investments in subsidiaries,
except where the timing of the reversal of the
temporary difference is controlled by the Group and
it is probable that the temporary difference will not

reverse in the foreseeable future.

Share capital
Ordinary shares are classified as equity.

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of
new shares or options are shown in equity as a

deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.
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2

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)
2.18 Employee benefits

()

(i)

Employee leave entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave and
long service leave are recognised when they
accrue to employees. A provision is made for
the estimated liability for annual leave and
long service leave as a result of services
rendered by employees up to the end of the
reporting period. Employee entitlements to
sick leave and maternity leave are not

recognised until the time of the leave.

Retirement benefits

The Group participates in various defined
contribution retirement benefit schemes. A
defined contribution plan is a retirement
benefit scheme under which the Group pays
fixed contributions into a separate entity. The
Group has no legal or constructive obligations
to pay further contributions for post-retirement

benefits beyond these fixed contributions.

The schemes are generally funded through
payments to government authorities, insurance
companies or trustee-administered funds. The
Group pays contributions on a mandatory,
contractual or voluntary basis. The
contributions are recognised as employment
costs when they are due. Prepaid
contributions are recognised as an asset to
the extent that a cash refund or a reduction

in the future payments is available.
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Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)
2.18 Employee benefits (Continued)

(iif)

Share-based compensation

The Group operates an equity-settled, share-
based compensation plan. The fair value of
the employee services received in exchange
for the grant of the options is recognised as
an expense. The total amount to be expensed
over the vesting period is determined by
reference to the fair value of the options
granted, including any market performance
conditions; excluding the impact of any non-
market vesting conditions (for example,
profitability and sales growth targets and
remaining an employee of the entity over a
specific time period); and including the
impact of any non-vesting conditions (for
example, the requirement for employees to
save). Non-market vesting conditions are
included in assumptions about the number of
options that are expected to vest. The total
expense is recognized over the vesting
period, which is the period over which all of
the specified vesting conditions are to be
satisfied. At the end of each reporting period,
the Group revises its estimates of the number
of options that are expected to vest based on
the non-market vesting conditions. It
recognises the impact of the revision of
original estimates, if any, in the consolidated
income statement, and a corresponding

adjustment to equity.

The cash subscribed for the shares issued
when the options are exercised is credited to
share capital (nominal value) and share
premium, net of any directly attributable

transaction costs.

2

EZEMBEME (&)

218 BEIREA (&)

(iii)

KRG BEREZ ##1E
AEBERE —HUEREN K

B AER RIS - BRI
Frgfe Bt 2 R 7% m % I 5 %
BZ2AFEERATH KRB
HABFIEZBRENEEMRK
HEREZATEET BET
AmBEEMRR T ERIEEMIR
% K IET 5 & ] 1T R (DI
MR BTN HEERBEEZEM
BITARXBCHMERANETER
IR 2 RBRIEME A IEA TR K
R EBIREE) 2FE- 3
TS TEGGRIETEEREER
ATEMNBAESBENBRESP -
THERGBEYRMNER IFE
FrE eI ITHRGHEEM - Nk
HEHERA AEESREIETS
AITREIG ST B A 1T 42
HEREE YRR E MK
RETREEEE 2 E(NA)
R ERELAERE-

NIBREEITER RBCRT
BOZREERINREMNERRS
B 12 A B A (T B) BB i

75



76

2

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)
2.18 Employee benefits (Continued)

(iv)  Profit-sharing and bonus plans
The Group recognises a liability and an
expense for bonuses and profit-sharing, based
on a formula that takes into consideration the
profit attributable to the Company’s
shareholders after certain adjustments. The
Group recognises a provision where
contractually obliged or where there is a past
practice that has created a constructive

obligation.

2.19 Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a
present legal or constructive obligation as a result
of past events; it is probable that an outflow of
resources will be required to settle the obligation;
and the amount has been reliably estimated.
Provisions are not recognised for future operating
losses.

Where there are a number of similar obligations,
the likelihood that an outflow will be required in
settlement is determined by considering the class of
obligations as a whole. A provision is recognised
even if the likelihood of an outflow with respect to
any one item included in the same class of

obligations may be small.

Provisions are measured at the present value of the
expenditures expected to be required to settle the
obligation using a pre-tax rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and
the risk specific to the obligation. The increase in
the provision due to the passage of time is

recognised as interest expense.
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Summary of significant accounting policies 2 EESTTBEMEE)

(Continued)

2.20 Revenue recognition 220 WEER
Revenue comprises the fair value of the WP EEASBERKEEEHREHK
consideration received or receivable for the sale of FERHEEERNATE WaE
goods in the ordinary course of the Group's HBREER - EE O/AETN AR
activities. Revenue is shown net of value-added tax, HIEALEER AN IHE RS FIIT

returns, rebates and discounts and after eliminating

sales within the Group.

The Group recognises revenue when the amount of S =S5 MR A 8
revenue can be reliably measured, it is probable HeBEEMEBRARE WX
that future economic benefits will flow to the entity Pl AR BB E EBT R EGREE
and specific criteria have been met for each of the AEEBRANZ AEEREBEE
Group’s activities as described below. The Group BUWEREEFPEBEE RHGEARER
bases its estimates on historical results, taking into HER B G5t -
consideration the type of customer, the type of
transaction and the specifics of each arrangement.
(a)  Sales of goods (@ HERmD
Sales of goods are recognised when a group HEEMNEBREBRAEPZER
entity has delivered products to the customer, Em BEFEXZERL A KM
the customer has accepted the products and MHERWZRIEN K SRS IER
collectibility of the related receivables is TE R FERR AR ©
reasonably assured.
(b)  Interest income b)  FLE YA
Interest income is recognised on a time- S A SR BB A BOE R
proportion basis using the effective interest b B ERE R AR ©

method.
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Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.21 Leases

Leases in which a significant portion of the risks
and rewards of ownership are retained by the lessor
are classified as operating leases. Payments made
under operating leases (net of any incentives
received from the lessor), including upfront payment
made for leasehold land and land use rights, are
charged to the consolidated income statement on a

straight-line basis over the period of the lease.

Leases of certain property, plant and equipment
where the Group has substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership are classified as finance
leases. Finance leases are capitalised at the lease’s
commencement at the lower of the fair value of the
leased property and the present value of the

minimum lease payments.

Each lease payment is allocated between the
liability and finance charges so as to achieve a
constant rate on the finance balance outstanding.
The corresponding rental obligations, net of finance
charges, are included in short-term and long-term
finance lease obligations. The interest element of
the finance cost is charged to the consolidated
income statement over the lease period so as to
produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the
remaining balance of the liability for each period.
The property, plant and equipment acquired under
finance leases is depreciated over the shorter of the

useful life of the asset and the lease term.
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Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.22

2.23

Contingent assets and contingent liabilities

A contingent liability is a possible obligation that
arises from past events and whose existence will
only be confirmed by the occurrence or non-
occurrence of one or more uncertain future events
not wholly within the control of the Group. It can
also be a present obligation arising from past events
that is not recognised because it is not probable
that an outflow of economic resources will be
required or the amount of the obligation cannot be
measured reliably. A contingent liability is not
recognised but is disclosed in the financial
statements. When a change in the probability of an
outflow occurs so that outflow is probable, it will

then be recognised as a provision.

A contingent asset is a possible asset that arises
from past events and whose existence will be
confirmed only by the occurrence or non-
occurrence of one or more uncertain events not
wholly within the control of the Group. Contingent
assets are not recognised but are disclosed in the
notes to the financial statements when an inflow of
economic benefits is probable. When inflow is

virtually certain, an asset is recognised.

Financial guarantees
Financial guarantee contracts are contracts that
require the issuer to make specified payments to
reimburse the holder for a loss it incurs because a
specified debtor fails to make payments when due,
in accordance with the terms of a debt instruments.
The Group does not recognise liabilities for financial
guarantees at inception, but performs a liability
adequacy test at the end of each reporting period
by comparing its net liability regarding the financial
guarantee with the amount that would be required
if the financial guarantee would result in a present
legal or constructive obligation. If the respective
liability is less than its present legal or constructive
obligation amount, the entire difference is
recognised in the consolidated income statement

immediately.
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Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)
2.24 Dividend distributions

Dividend distributions to the Company’s
shareholders are recognised as a liability in the
Group’s financial statements in the period in which
the dividends are approved by the Company’s

shareholders.

Financial risk management

3.1

Financial risk factors

The Group’s principal activities expose it to a
variety of financial risks: market risk (including
currency risk, fair value interest rate risk and cash
flow interest rate risk), credit risk and liquidity risk.
The Group’s overall risk management programme
focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets
and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on
the Group’s financial performance. The Group uses
derivative financial instruments to manage certain
foreign exchange and interest risk exposures. Risk
management is carried out by senior management
of the Group under policies approved by the Board

of Directors of the Company.
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Financial risk management (Continued)

3.1

Financial risk factors (Continued)
Market risk

(a)

(i)

Foreign exchange risk

Subsidiaries of the Company operate in
the People’s Republic of China (the
“PRC”), Hong Kong and Singapore with
most of the transactions denominated
in either Renminbi, Hong Kong dollars,
Singapore dollars or United States
dollars. The Group is exposed to
foreign exchange risk primarily through
sales and purchases transactions that
are denominated in a currency other
than the functional currency of the
subsidiaries. The Group considers its
foreign currency exposure mainly arises
from the exposure of Renminbi against
Hong Kong dollars and/or United States
dollars. As Hong Kong dollars is
pegged to United States dollars, the
Group believes the exposure of
transactions denominated in United
States dollars which are entered by
group companies with a functional
currency of Hong Kong dollars to be

insignificant.

The Group manages its exposures to
foreign currency transactions by

monitoring the level of foreign
currency receipts and payments. The
Group ensures that the net exposure to
foreign exchange risk is kept to an
acceptable level from time to time. The
forward contracts

Group uses

transacted with external financial
institutions to partially hedge against
such foreign exchange risks. The Group
also regularly reviews the portfolio of
local and international customers and
the currencies in which the transactions
are denominated so as to minimise the
Group’s exposure to foreign exchange

risk.
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3

Financial risk management (Continued)

3.1

Financial risk factors (Continued)
Market risk (Continued)

(a)

(i)

Foreign exchange risk (Continued)

As at 31st March, 2010, approximately
81% (2009: 87%) of the Group’s
borrowings are denominated in Hong
Kong dollars and United States dollars
while the remaining are denominated
in Renminbi. The Group presently
draws borrowings in

United States

Hong Kong
dollars, dollars or
Renminbi to finance investments in
China after considering, inter alia,
likely future fluctuations in United
States dollars and Renminbi against
Hong Kong dollars and currency mix
of income sources and costs/expenses
of the Group. At present, the
management does not expect that there
will be any significant foreign exchange
risk associated with the Group’s
borrowings and the Group did not use
any financial instruments to hedge its
foreign exchange risk arising from the

Group's borrowings during the year.

At 31st March, 2010, if Renminbi had
strengthened/weakened by 5% (2009:
5%) against Hong Kong dollars or
United States dollars with all other
variables held constant, pre-tax profit
for the year would have been
approximately HK$259,000
higher (2009: HK$952,000) mainly as

a result of foreign exchange gains/

lower/

losses on translation of cash and cash
equivalents, trade receivables, trade
payables and borrowings denominated
in non-functional currency of the

relevant group companies.
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Financial risk management (Continued)

3.1

Financial risk factors (Continued)
Market risk (Continued)

(a)

(ii)

Cash flow and fair value interest rate
risk
As the Group has

interest-bearing assets except for the

no significant

cash and bank balances, the Group’s
income and operating cash flows are
substantially independent of changes in

market interest rates.

The Group’s interest rate risk arises
from borrowings. The Group is exposed
to cash flow interest rate risk in
bank

borrowings. The Group’s cash flow

relation to variable-rate
interest rate risk is mainly concentrated
on the fluctuation of Hong Kong
Interbank Offered Rate arising from the
Group’s borrowings. The Group hedged
part of the cashflow interest-rate risk
through interest rate swaps, which
fixed the interest rate of the notional
principal amounting to HK$50,000,000
as at 31st March, 2010 (2009:
HK$50,000,000).

At 31st March, 2010, if interest rates
10 basis

points higher/lower with all other

on borrowings had been

variables held constant, post-tax profit
for the year would have been
HK$183,000 (2009: HK$182,000)
lower/higher, mainly as a result of
higher/lower interest expense on

floating rate borrowings.
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3

Financial risk management (Continued)

3.1

Financial risk factors (Continued)

(b)

Credit risk
The credit risk of the Group mainly arises
from trade receivables and deposits with

banks and financial institutions.

Credit risk on trade debtors is managed by
the management of the individual business
units and monitored by the Group’s
management on a group basis. Most
customers are sizable and renowned. For
other smaller customers, management assesses
their credit quality by considering its financial
position, past experience and other relevant
factors. The utilisation of credit limits is
regularly monitored. Debtors with overdue
balances will be requested to settle their

outstanding balances.

Under the global financial crisis, debtors of
the Group may be affected by the
unfavourable economic conditions and the
lower liquidity situation could in turn impact
their ability to repay the amounts owed.
Deteriorating operating conditions for debtors
may also have an impact on management’s
cash flow forecasts and assessment of the

impairment of receivables.

The Group believes that adequate provision
for doubtful debts has been made in the
consolidated financial statements and all
customers with delinquency in payments and
indication of impairment were fully provided
for. To the extent that information is available,
management has properly reflected revised
estimates of expected future cash flows in
their impairment assessments in relation to
receivables. As at 31st March, 2010, a total
provision for impairment of trade receivables
of HK$16,162,000 (2009: HK$26,791,000)
had been recognised in the Group’s financial

statements.
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3 Financial risk management (Continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(b)

(9]

Credit risk (Continued)

The Group has policies that limit the amount
of credit exposure to any individual financial
institution. The Group’s bank deposits are all
deposited in renowned and established banks
or financial institutions in Hong Kong,
Singapore and the PRC. Management
considers that the credit risk associated with
deposits with banks and financial institutes is

low.

Liquidity risk

Prudent liquidity risk management implies
maintaining sufficient cash and the availability
of funding through an adequate amount of
committed credit facilities. Due to the
dynamic nature of the underlying businesses,
the Group’s management aims to maintain
flexibility in funding by maintaining

availability under committed credit lines.

Management monitors rolling forecasts of the
Group’s liquidity reserve which comprises
cash and cash equivalents (Note 22) and
undrawn borrowing facilities (Note 33) on the

basis of expected cash flow.
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3

Financial risk management (Continued)

3.1

Financial risk factors (Continued)

()

Liquidity risk (Continued)

The table below analyses the Group’s and the

Company’s financial liabilities into relevant

maturity groupings based on the remaining

period at the end of reporting period to

contractual maturity. The amounts disclosed

in the table are the contractual undiscounted

cash flows. Balances due within 12 months

equal their carrying balances, as the impact

of discounting is not significant.

Group
At 31st March, 2010

Borrowings
Trade and
bill payables
Other payables
Derivative financial
instruments
Interest payable

At 31st March, 2009

Borrowings
Finance lease obligations
Trade and
bill payables
Other payables
Derivative financial
instruments
Interest payable
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TA
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RN
Between Between

Less than 1 and 2 2 and 5 Over
1 year years years 5 years
N T
DRIE 1225 285 HBsF
153,357 31,350 24,557 89
180,678 — — _
15,606 — — —
3,502 — — —
5,257 827 500 5
358,400 32,177 25,057 94
139,251 37,172 35,447 135
727 — — —
102,283 — — —
17,695 — — —
3,930 — — —
5,289 1,210 683 11
269,175 38,382 36,130 146




3 Financial risk management (Continued)

3.1

3.2

Financial risk factors (Continued)
(c) Liquidity risk (Continued)

Company nF
At 31st March, 2010 R=-ZZE-—ZF
=A=+—H
Other payables H h 8 < 3R
Amounts due to FE BT B & A
subsidiaries RIE
At 31st March, 2009 R=ZZBZhEF
=H=+-—H
Other payables H fth FE 3R
Amounts due to FEHT B A A
subsidiaries FIE

Capital Risk Management

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are
to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern in order to provide returns for
shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders and
to maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce

the cost of capital.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure,
the Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid
to shareholders, return capital to shareholders, issue

new shares or sell assets to reduce debt.

Bt 7 B B E ()

31 MBEBREEGE
© mBEZEREE)

Between Between

Less than 1 and 2 2 and 5 Over
1 year years years 5 years
¥ N F

PR1E 1225 2E55 BiB5F

77 — — —

56,639 — — —

56,716 — — —

68 — — —

79,882 — — —

79,950 — — —

32 EXEKER
AEEEBEARAZEERREBAEEF
BREZEND UWABRERREDR LA
HM s HAERBENST AR ESE
R AR E AR ©

RERIHEERNERE AEEKEH
BRTRRZBRECHE BEREFER
R BETHEIEEEENRDER -
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3 Financial risk management (Continued)

3.2

Capital Risk Management (Continued)

The Group monitors capital on the basis of the net
gearing ratio. This ratio is calculated as net debt
divided by total capital. Net debt is calculated as
total borrowings (including current and non-current
borrowings, finance lease obligations as shown in
the consolidated statement of financial position) less
cash and cash equivalents. Total capital is calculated
as ‘equity’, as shown in the consolidated statement

of financial position.

During 2010,

unchanged from 2009, was to maintain a net

the Group’s strategy, which was

gearing ratio less than 75%. The net gearing ratios
at 31st March, 2010 and 2009 were as follows:

3 M¥EREEE

3.2

Borrowings (Note 23) & & (Pt 23)
Bill payables J& 1 =%

Finance lease obligations (Note 24)

R ER (M E24)

Total borrowings BB AR

Less: Bank balances and cash W RITHEERES
(Note 22) (B E22)

Net debt [

Total equity M

Net gearing ratio FaELE

Decrease in gearing ratio is mainly due to the
increase in cash and bank balances because of the
decrease in the repayment of short-term bank

borrowings in current year.

EXEREE ()
AREENFEBELXRREER
ZlS*EittTLxﬁfiﬁﬁfﬁu i 7 4

CABEFENEEE(R Eﬁé,
ﬂwﬂj(/ﬁﬁq:'ﬁ&&mmb@&#mu@%
BHEROEBRRELE2EE K
REBAERNEEMBARK PO
LN

& B

Edt

e
Al &
/m]H U> % )Flt

plani]
e

RZZ-ZFERN AEEZEK(A
“ETNFRIEZE RERFFERE
HEDR75% - R _B-—TFR_FE
NE=ZA=+—HZFEELENT

2010 2009
HK$’000 HK$’000
FTERT TET
209,353 212,005
27,923 6,951
— 727
237,276 219,683
(184,976) (113,694)
52,300 105,989
544,768 501,885
10% 21%

EFJ:EWT%IEBHE’\\$¢WW’J\1@E
EERT BHRRSRBITETH
B m e
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Financial risk management (Continued)

3.3

Fair value estimation

The carrying amount of the Group’s financial assets
including cash and cash equivalents, trade and bill
receivables, deposits and financial liabilities
including trade and bill payables, other payables
and short-term bank borrowings, approximate their

fair values due to their short-term maturities.

Effective 1st January, 2009, the Group adopted the
amendment to HKFRS 7 for financial instruments
that are measured in the statement of financial
position at fair value. This requires disclosure of fair
value measurements by level of the following fair

value measurement hierarchy:

—  Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets

for identical assets or liabilities (level 1).

— Inputs other than quoted prices included
within level 1 that are observable for the
asset or liability, either directly (that is, as
prices) or indirectly (that is, derived from

prices) (level 2).

— Inputs for the asset or liability that are not
based on observable market data (that is,

unobservable inputs) (level 3).

The following table presents the Group’s assets and
liabilities that are measured at fair value at 31st
March, 2010.

Assets BE
Available-for-sale financial AHNENBEE

assets
Derivative financial instruments #74 4 gt T A

BEE

Total assets

Liabilities =R
Derivative financial instruments #74 4 g T &

wmeE

Total liabilities

3

B R b B ()

3.3 AR EZMAE
AEEVBKEE BRERAs RS
B -BHRUEREERE K kWK
BEPRESIENEREER  HEtfE
NRREHRITEE  BRERERE -
E M EBEEESEA T EEE -

H_ZTEAFE-A- A AEERM
EREUBHRELNEIREBEBTA
EMBRARRAFEAENES K
RERTINTVEFEBERBRELATE

i

— FRBREEREEEERTS LY
WECREAR)(E—R) -

— BE-BAEENHREN BE
BB EE (BER) M
(BB LASNE ) B R AT 5 1
AE(E_H) -

— YIIRBEABETHSHEMEE
MEESXBBENRZAAAH
ENRR)(E=H) -

TRENAESER -_Z-TF=A
=St -HUATEFENEEREE -

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
R 1 R E=& st
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000
FHET FHET FH& T FHET
1,251 — — 1,251
— 72 — 72

1,251 72 — 1,323
— 3,502 — 3,502

— 3,502 — 3,502
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3

Financial risk management (Continued)

3.3 Fair value estimation (Continued)
The fair value of financial instruments traded in
active markets is based on quoted market prices at
the end of reporting period. A market is regarded as
active if quoted prices are readily and regularly
available from an exchange, dealer, broker, industry
group, pricing service, or regulatory agency, and
those prices represent actual and regularly occurring
market transactions on an arm’s length basis. The
quoted market price used for financial assets held
by the Group is the current bid price. These
instruments are included in level 1. Instruments

included in level 1 comprise primarily listed equity

investments classified as available-for-sale financial

assets.

The fair value of financial instruments that are not
traded in an active market (for example, over-the-
counter derivatives) is determined by using valuation
techniques. These valuation techniques maximise the
use of observable market data where it is available
and rely as little as possible on entity specific
estimates. If all significant inputs required to fair
value an instrument are observable, the instrument

is included in level 2.

Critical accounting estimates and judgements

Estimates and judgments are continually evaluated and are
based on historical experience and other factors, including
expectations of future events that are believed to be

reasonable under the circumstances.

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning
the future. The resulting accounting estimates will, by
definition, seldom equal the related actual results. The
estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of
causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities within the next financial year are

addressed below.

3

Bt 75 2 By B 2 ()

3.3 DFEzMEE (E)
EERMSEENERTAENQFER
BREZERANTIZHREINE - EWwE
AERMERLBSRGH K58
B FERAL EERBEREER
BEES MzERERRRATRSE
EETHNERNERTERXS5E &M
BRARER AKERANEREE
WHSHRERERETRE-HFETA
BREF R -UWEBEEF MANT
AT EREIBRVHEENBEEN
FHRERE -

RAEEERTSEENSRIADIE
BOMTET B AT ER A E R
BE HEXTMEENHAIBREMSH
A BEIREERBOREMG
oM E-—eRMIANRFTEMTD
AEBERBARAEBRAE AZeR
TEINAE -

B ARG EET R A H

ARG ETEARA 2 G R A
TEERBEEREEBEE  2ERER
REBEBEEZRKEM -

AEBERREKEHBARER EEN G
Bt (RBEEHR) T —CHERERERAR -
RT—UBFERFERRBEKREEREE
REEEAFHBHMGE RBREN T X -



4

Critical accounting estimates and judgements
(Continued)

(@)

(b)

(o)

Trade receivables

The Group’s management determines the provision
for impairment of trade receivables based on an
assessment of the recoverability of the receivables.
This assessment is based on the credit history of its
customers and other debtors and current market
conditions, and requires the use of judgements and
estimates. Management reassesses the provision at

the end of each reporting period.

Income taxes

The Group is subject to income taxes in several
jurisdictions. Significant judgement is required in
determining the worldwide provision for income
taxes. There are many transactions and calculations
for which the ultimate tax determination is
uncertain. The Group recognises liabilities for
anticipated tax audit issues based on estimates of
whether additional taxes will be due. Where the
final tax outcome of these matters is different from
the amounts that were initially recorded, such
differences will impact the current and deferred
income tax assets and liabilities in the period in
which such determination is made. Deferred income
tax assets relating to certain temporary differences
and tax losses are recognised when management
considers it is likely that future taxable profits will
be available against which the temporary differences
or tax losses can be utilised. When the expectations
are different from the original estimates, such
differences will impact the recognition of deferred
tax assets and income tax charges in the period in

which such estimates are changed.

Net realisable value of inventories

Net realisable value of inventories is the estimated
selling price in the ordinary course of business, less
estimated costs of completion and variable selling
expenses. These estimates are based on current
market conditions and the historical experience of
manufacturing and selling products of a similar
nature. It could change significantly as a result of
changes in customer taste and competitor actions in
response to industry cycles. Management reassesses

these estimates at the end of each reporting period.

4

B RS E R B (&)

(@)

(b)

(o)

8 % B W R

FEEEREREEZEKERTIKRE
128 2 &1 {4 3k 3% 5 e AR SRAT 1R B -
ZEFENREEPREMEB AR
FEEMRRIARBRIMSHR - FEHE
ERHE R - ERERSREER
HEMFHEA

ig=x
REBBEBMETRAEIEERE BE
Hitt R E OB RBEEELEROH
- BEZREBRESEBEBEIRI R
ATE - AEEIRE T ARMBINGIAEM
BREABEEZETENEGE WS
FEHZBRBBEERAVI LB 2 &8
TR EHEZEETEELET 2 HE
RZABHREERESHEERABRE -
fis & ¥ JE R B AR SR FE R Bl s A1) ] A 1E
HER M ERNTEEET TR -
HleMREETERMEZRAB2EL
MEERMEEE WEHERERL
ZEETR EHEZEeHAHRGEED
WEH AMNELTEHEERAEHFA
X2 HEREREE -

FEUERFE
GEAEEFERBTEBGIEEN
BREFTIXNAREERS - BRAME
BERTHRARBARERHEBUE
M2 BmEDL - M AT REE R
AR EHEFEHFERTERRBR SR
BERMERENES EEERSTHE
WELRBEMTE U FEET -
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4

Critical accounting estimates and judgements
(Continued)

(d)

Estimated useful lives and impairment of
property, plant and equipment, leasehold land
and land use rights

The Group’s management determines the estimated
useful lives of its property, plant and equipment,
leasehold land and land use rights. These estimates
are based on historical experience of the actual useful
lives of property, plant and equipment, leasehold land
and land use rights of similar nature and functions.
Management will increase the depreciation charge
where useful lives are less than previously estimated
lives, and will write-off/write-down technically

obsolete assets that have been abandoned.

Property, plant and equipment, leasehold land and
land use rights are reviewed for impairment
whenever events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying amount may not be
recoverable. The recoverable amount is determined
based on value-in-use calculations. These calculations

require the use of judgements and estimates.

Management judgement is required in the area of
asset impairment particularly in assessing: (i)
whether an event has occurred that may indicate
that the related asset values may not be recoverable;
(i) whether the carrying value of an asset can be
supported by the recoverable amount, being the net
present value of future cash flows which are
estimated based upon the continued use of the asset
in the business; and (iii) the appropriate key
assumptions to be applied in preparing cash flow
projections including whether these cash flow
projections are discounted using an appropriate rate.
Changing the assumptions selected by management
in assessing impairment, including the discount rates
or the growth rate assumptions in the cash flow
projections, could materially affect the net present
value used in the impairment test and as a result
affect the Group’s financial condition and results of
operations. If there is a significant adverse change
in the projected performance and resulting future
cash flow projections, it may be necessary to take
an impairment charge to the consolidated income

statement.

4

B RS E R B (&)

(d)

ME - BERRBE HELHELT
MmEREZATIERFARRE

AEBERBREDE BELRE -
HETE T MEREZE A ERE
H hEEAEREBEEERNERER
ME- -BELRE HELBELHE
AENERERFHNBELRME
E-BERERFHRREMAND
EEEERSTE REHEREENR
M EEEEEEENNE -

ME -BELRE HELHETHE
R DRESFHRBEAEHBRER
Tl B 7] A2 T AR W2 12 A5 1 OB (B 4 & o AT
BN RECRBEEXMSEEE
JE o B RHE KB EAE A H B b A

RFHREEEERER U TBERL
HEAZEBREERHE  WDEHEE—
FEMBETAEHEEBHETREARRK
B (WVEEZKREEBELS SN EA M
BE IRENEEFHECAZEE
MEEZARRERE 2 FRE  Kii)
REBRSREFRRGAER 24 ER
REEZEReRERARECRKASE
BEANREEE - R ERERSFEHM
FHEBEREBRMZBR  BIEMREAN
ZRReREREEEE A4 EHE
AR ERFREEREATEY
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Revenue and segment information

The Company is an investment holding company and its

subsidiaries are principally engaged in the printing and

manufacturing of packaging materials, labels, and paper

products, including environmental friendly paper products.

(@)

(b)

Revenue/Turnover is analysed as follows:

Sales of packaging materials, HE
labels, and paper products, including

environmental friendly paper products
Others H

Segment information

The chief operating decision-maker has been
identified as the Chairman/Chief Executive Officer
of the Company. Operating segments are reported in
a manner consistent with the internal reporting
provided to the chief operating decision-maker. The
Chairman/Chief Executive Officer of the Company
reviews the Group’s internal reporting in order to
assess performance and allocate resources.
Management has determined the operating segments

based on these reports.

The Chairman/Chief Executive Officer of the
Company considers the business from a geographical
perspective, i.e. determined by the location of major
factory plants including Southern China, Eastern
China and South East Asia.

The Chairman/Chief Executive Officer of the
Company assesses the performance of the operating
segments based on revenue, operating profit, net

profit, capital expenditure, assets and liabilities.

B AR5 & &
ARAN-RABBRAT - HHEADEE

RENRRHEBEMH BH REESH
BRERRERER-

(@)

(b)

g

WA EEBE2IHMT

CEULRE TR
KB
RRBEER

2010 2009
HK$'000 HK$’000
FExT FHET
1,166,716 1,293,634
15,923 9,770
1,182,639 1,303,404

DHER

ARAREFE/THRERBESEELE
RRE -BEDHBARMEZRERRE
RERNL2H -BNTELX2H - AR A
ITE/OTBERERAEE 2 ABR
FOUNFERBAEIEER-BEEEE

BEZEREETKLEDH -

RAEERE/THERRREFRE
17 BIRETBHMENMEMRERRE
Em o ERERESZ

RRARERFTBEHRBRBRA K2
WA EF  BARX EERAER
HEDEMRER -
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5  Revenue and segment information (Continued)

(b)  Segment information (Continued)
(i) The segment results for the year ended 31st
March, 2010 and 2009 are as follows:

For the year ended
31st March, 2010

Total revenue
Inter-segment revenue

Revenue (from external

customers)
Operating profit/(loss)
Finance income
Finance costs
Income tax expense
Profit/(loss) for the year

Other information:

Depreciation and

amortisation for the year

Capital expenditure

5
—E-%F
ER=t+-HLEE
LGN
ZE ST ON
WA CRBESNEEEF)

mEEN, (FE)
BAEWA

P15 %t X
FRE, (EE)
Hit &R :

FAFTEREH

AEARX

WA RS EE R (H)
(b) DEBER(HE)
i) BE-FT-TER-FTNAF=
A=+—ALFEzHHLEEN

T
Southern Eastern South
China China  East Asia Group
30 R REFEE &8

HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000
FTERT TR FTERT TERT

883,464 202,630 182,090 1,268,184
(11,770)  (73,449) (326)  (85,545)

871,694 129,181 181,764 1,182,639

37,955 (5,218) 21,490 54,227

101 103 91 295
(5,546) (2,008) ) (7,563)
(3,520) 1,038 (3,265) (5,747)
28,990 (6,085) 18,307 41,212
36,709 25,412 5,513 67,634

33,385 3,158 1,791 38,334




5  Revenue and segment information (Continued)

(b)  Segment information (Continued)

(i) The segment results for the year ended 31st

March, 2010 and 2009
(Continued)

For the year ended
31st March, 2009

Total revenue
Inter-segment revenue

Revenue

(from external customers)
Operating profit
Finance income
Finance costs
Income tax expense
Profit for the year

Other information:

Depreciation and

amortisation for the year

Capital expenditure

5
are as follows:
=X T YO
ZA=+—-BLEE
LU A
75 2B B U A
WA (REINEE )

il
BMEBA
P15 %5t F XX
F A
Hit & :

FRITE R

EENGET
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WA RS EE R (H)
(b) DEBER(HE)
i) BE-FT-TER-FTNAF=
A=+—ALFEzHHLEEN

T : (%)
Southern Eastern South
China China  East Asia Group
2  ER Ems %M

HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
TAET TAET FTHET TAET

981,271 245,721 176,602 1,403,594
(8,515)  (91,176) (499)  (100,190)

972,756 154,545 176,103 1,303,404

53,198 16,976 15,594 85,768
265 198 223 686
(13,729) (3,901) (113) (17,743)
(9,165) 2,040 (1,988) (9,113)
30,569 15,313 13,716 59,598
43,262 25,759 4,205 73,226
20,082 30,452 20,758 71,292




5  Revenue and segment information (Continued) 5

WARDEHER (E)
(b) Segment information (Continued) (b) DEER(E)
and iy RZE—ZFR-_ZTFThZ=

(ii) An analysis of the Group’s assets

liabilities by segment as at 31st March, 2010,

and 2009 is as follows:

As at 31st March, 2010

Segment assets
Deferred income tax assets
Tax recoverable

Total assets

Segment liabilities

Deferred income tax
liabilities

Current income tax

liabilities

Total liabilities

R=-ZEB-—ZF
=A=+-—8H
DEEE
BRIEFTSREE
A Y = FT 15 B 3K

DEMaE

BIEFSHRAE

BIHmEHAE

3
&
\
A
.
o

= A
=t+t—REFEAEEZHHE

ERBESHOT :

Southern Eastern South
China China  East Asia Group
Ea) E3Y WD £H
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT TER FERT FERT
618,597 277,689 131,692 1,027,978
2,720 3,096 — 5,816
1,940 — — 1,940
623,257 280,785 131,692 1,035,734
333,259 90,422 27,733 451,414
8,619 — 3,529 12,148
24,821 — 2,583 27,404
366,699 90,422 33,845 490,966




5  Revenue and segment information (Continued)
(b) Segment information (Continued)
(ii) An analysis of the Group’s assets and
liabilities by segment as at 31st March, 2010,
and 2009 is as follows: (Continued)

As at 31st March, 2009 R-ZBEFHLE

=A=+-—H
Segment assets D ERE E
Deferred income tax assets iE iE 153 3 & &
Tax recoverable a] Y [B] FT 15 B 3R
Total assets wEE
Segment liabilities DEbBEE
Deferred income tax RIEFERAE
liabilities
Current income tax ENERFRIS R B &
liabilities
Total liabilities BweE

Revenues of approximately HK$134,104,000
(2009: HK$108,653,000) are derived from a
single external customer. These revenues are

attributable to the Southern China segment.

5
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WARDERE R ()
b)) BHERE)
(il RZE—ZEFR-ZZZTNZ=A
S+ —HLEFEREBRZHHE
ERBEITET - (&)

Southern Eastern South
China China East Asia Group
2y 2X  A@E %M

HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
TAET TAET TET THETT

526,557 280,006 105,730 912,293
1,804 2,031 — 3,835
3,392 — — 3,392

531,753 282,037 105,730 919,520

286,634 59,427 30,712 376,773

11,069 — 2,426 13,495
25,935 — 1,432 27,367
323,638 59,427 34,570 417,635

#9134,104,0008 L (ZEZNF -
108,653,0007% 7T) #) W AR B —
BE—IIREP WEWRABR
EEHI o
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Other gains — net

Net exchange gains
Fair value (loss)/gain on

foreign exchange forward contracts
Net loss on disposal of property,

plant and equipment

Write-back of/(provision for) impairment of

property, plant and equipment
Others

Expenses by nature

Raw materials and consumables used
Changes in inventories of
finished goods and work in progress
Sub-contracting charges
Repairs and maintenance
Freight and transportation
Employment costs (including directors’
emoluments) (note 9)
Operating lease rentals of
premises charged by
— third parties
— a related party (note 34)
(Write-back of)/provision for
impairment of receivables
(Write-back of)/provision for
inventory obsolescence
Amortisation of leasehold

land and land use rights

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment

— owned assets

— assets held under finance leases
Auditor’s remuneration
Other expenses

Total cost of sales, selling and distribution

costs and general and administrative

expenses

6 Hitzm — FE

2010 2009
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHERT FET
TEH T8 641 2,430
RHINESHNATE
(EB8/) Wz (567) 639
LEME BELELEZ
518 F 5 47) (14)
W - BB REERE
B (B ) 236 (1,000)
H A 45 (232)
308 1,823
7 RHEEESzZEX
2010 2009
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FE&T
R & EEFEMEA 623,109 648,846
B mEERRFEEE
(17,800) 3,220
b1 === 27,996 33,197
HIERE 14,604 13,659
EWEA 40,921 41,362
BEIXA(BEEEHS)
(Bt 5%9) 280,320 267,325
TERMERLERN 2
e HF
— F=F 14,159 16,140
— BEAN T (H35E34) 60 60
JEURR SR (E (R 58) /s 5
(10,131) 13,073
GFERE (&) #E
(7,414) 8,992
&+ b o+ b 5 PR R 8 4N
737 734
M- BEREEZNE
— BEEE 66,897 71,512
— UMBROFEZEE — 980
% B8R BN & 2,199 1,948
HiA X 93,063 98,411
HEKRK HERDHEERK
—MRITHAX R
1,128,720 1,219,459




Finance costs — net

Interest expense on bank borrowings

— wholly repayable within five years

— not wholly repayable within five years
Interest element on finance lease obligations
Fair value loss on interest-rate swaps

— realised

— unrealised

Interest income from bank deposits

Employment costs (including directors’

emoluments)

Salaries, wages and allowances

Discretionary bonus

Pension costs — defined contribution plans

Provision for long service payments and
annual leave

Share-based payments

Other welfare and benefits

The Group has arranged for its Hong Kong employees to
join the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the
“MPF Scheme”), which is a defined contribution scheme
managed by independent trustees. Under the MPF scheme,
each of the group companies (the employer) and its
employees make monthly contributions to the scheme at

5% of the employees’ earnings as defined under the Hong

8 BEMAE — FHE

2010 2009
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHExT FHT
RITREEF B X H
— ARAFREHEE 6,168 13,333
— BERATAZHEE 17 11
BB L 2B 9 107
FERBHEHOHQATEER
— BER 1,797 362
— BRER (428) 3,930
7,563 17,743
ROFZMEKA 29 (686)
7,268 17,057
9 EBIRAKA(BREE#M)
2010 2009
HK$’000 HK$’000
FiExT FAET
e  TERRER 249,434 234,120
BHREZEA 8,673 7,242
BRI AR — RO G 8 10,660 12,392
EHRBEREB 2 EE
595 1,054
B B S 171 917
H b 18 F & F) 2% 10,787 11,600
280,320 267,325

(leiESral)

Kong Mandatory Provident Fund legislation. The monthly

contributions of each of the employer and the employee
are subject to a cap of HK$1,000 and thereafter

contributions are voluntary.

ERATE RERES
MEEESGAHERAREBB AR (GRASE
NEERA 2 EE) 25% °
EMEEAZ ERHEE A1,0008 7T BiE L
REERET BB REEMRK -

sl

AEBECAESEISMBHERE S
%At B S S E AR B B L
REE(BE)

i 8 £ & &
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Employment costs (including directors’

emoluments) (Continued)

As stipulated by rules and regulations in the PRC, group
companies operating in the PRC contribute to state-
sponsored retirement plans for their employees. The
employees contribute approximately 8% to 11% of their
basic salaries, while the group companies contribute
approximately 11% to 32% of the basic salaries of their
employees and have no further obligations for the actual
payment of pensions or post-retirement benefits beyond
the annual contributions. The state-sponsored retirement
plans are responsible for the entire pension obligations

payable to retired employees.

As stipulated by rules and regulations in Singapore, the
group companies operating in Singapore contribute to the
Singapore Central Provident Fund, a statutory pension
scheme. Under the scheme, the employees contribute
approximately 5% to 20% of their wages, while the group
companies contribute approximately 5% to 14.5% of the
wages of their employees. The employer’s and employees’
contributions are subject to a cap of ordinary wages of
SGD4,500 (equivalent to approximately HK$24,500).

BETRA(BEESEHE) &

BEFRBEER AEERNFRAEEBKZA A
AHEEBRY —FAATHALARRENH
BRhestE BIZHABORBEATF 22
#8%ZE11% « MAEEM QG 2 HHELH B
BEEAF S ZH11%E32% MBRFEHK
SN ZRBRRERORRES M RKBRIKER
s TArEAWET - ZEAERREHH
RINSFIEREHRKNEENMARKEEE -

WEFTMBER AEBRFTMEEEBZ
DRBBERRE—FEEATRABEMNET
RINEsTEl - Bz 8 BEERREAT 2
#5%E20% - MEBE AR 2 HREREEH
&2 H5%E145%  EEREBEH-KZ L
RAESTAL®ET 4500 NE T(HERYD
24,5008 7C) °



10 Directors’ and senior executives’ emoluments

(@)

Directors’ emoluments

The remuneration of each Director of the Company
for the years ended 31st March, 2010 and 2009 is

set out below:

Name of Director

For the year ended
31st March, 2010

Executive Directors

Mr. Lam Kwong Yu

Ms. Yeung Chui

Mr. Tai Tzu Shi, Angus

Mr. Cheung Chi Shing,
Charles

Mr. Lim Pheck Wan, Richard

Independent Non-Executive
Directors

Mr. Chan Yue Kwong,
Michael

Mr. Kwok Lam Kwong,
Larry, BBS, JP

Mr. Tam King Ching, Kenny

For the year ended
31st March, 2009

Executive Directors

Mr. Lam Kwong Yu

Ms. Yeung Chui

Mr. Tai Tzu Shi, Angus

Mr. Cheung Chi Shing,
Charles

Mr. Lim Pheck Wan, Richard

Independent Non-Executive
Directors

Mr. Chan Yue Kwong,
Michael

Mr. Kwok Lam Kwong,
Larry, BBS, JP

Mr. Tam King Ching, Kenny

EEHE

—®-¥5=5
St-ALEE

HITESE
M N S &
BRI+
HEBELE
SRR k&
R4 BE S

BUFFRITES

B
SBHSE -

BBS, X F it
ERIERE

—BBhFE=A
=+-HLEE

HiTES
ML an st
BRLL
WAEEEE
SRR A
PRARE 55 4

BUFFRITES

R &

B E -
BBS, X F#1
EMIERE

10 EERSRTHRAEHE

@ EsSME
“E-TER-FEAF=A=t-H

Salaries and

LEEREEZHMEFROT:

Discretionary

Pension
costs-defined
contribution

Share-based

Fees allowances bonus plans payments Total
BRAKA A

B HRE — RE B 43 32 A%
e HEREHR 2T # et & [k 5y
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000
THET THEIT THET THET THET THET
138 3,278 321 68 — 3,805
88 2,732 310 63 — 3,193
88 1,138 224 30 25 1,505
88 1,466 279 38 25 1,896
88 1,223 279 — 25 1,615
260 — — — — 260
150 — — — — 150
150 — — — — 150
1,050 9,837 1,413 199 75 12,574
138 3,030 241 68 — 3,477
88 2,979 231 63 — 3,361
88 1,138 159 30 101 1,516
88 1,466 205 38 101 1,898
88 1,221 176 — 101 1,586
260 — — — — 260
150 — — — — 150
150 — — — — 150
1,050 9,834 1,012 199 303 12,398
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10 Directors’ and senior executives’ emoluments
(Continued)

(b)

()

(d)

(e)

Share-based payments

The share-based payments represent charges to the
income statement of the fair value of the share
options granted under the share option scheme
measured at the respective grant dates, regardless of
whether the share options are or will be exercised

or not.

No director waived any emolument during the year
ended 31st March, 2010 (2009: Nil).

Five highest paid individuals

The five individuals whose emoluments were the
highest in the Group include all five (2009: five)
Executive Directors whose emoluments are reflected

in the analysis presented above.

During the year ended 31st March, 2010, no
emoluments were paid by the Company to any of
the directors or the five highest paid individuals as
an inducement to join or upon joining the Group

or as compensation for loss of office (2009: Nil).

10 EERSRTHRAEME (H)

(b)

(o)

(d)

(e)

B M
EmBEREEERERTE  RHXH
e AIRERBBIEBIR BB RRE
BARKE B HARFER KR KT
fER X

TE-RF=A=t+-HIFEAGE
EZeRERNMS(ZTTNF ) -

EfNESHFAL

hfimmEBALTHR 2 (ZTThF:
A HAXRAES EMeE#R
b d -

R-E-—BE=A=+-BILEERN
BERIAEENRSH 2 AMLALS
NMeEbRFRMALEE Be
B kEMEZBE(CEIAE
) o



11

Income tax expense 11 FEHAX
The Company is exempted from taxation in Bermuda until ARARERECHMNBEREERB B2 _F
2016. The Company’s subsidiaries established in the British —RFRIEE-RRAREBHEBREFSNL
Virgin Islands are incorporated under the International MEMBARIREBERBER RSB
Business Companies Acts of the British Virgin Islands and, BRBDEFEMA - Bt B EHMNEE &
accordingly, are exempted from British Virgin Islands RRESHMEH -
income taxes.
Hong Kong profits tax has been provided at the rate of BBFGE R U E165%(ZF T N F:
16.5% (2009: 16.5%) on the estimated assessable profit 16.5% ) 2B B 48 & 5715 2 fh 5T E R BA M &
arising in or derived from Hong Kong. B o
Subsidiaries established and operated in the PRC are ERBIRY REE 2B ARRANEE AR
subject to the PRC Corporate Income Tax at rates ranging 12.5%%25% (= T Z N F : 18%F25% ) Bl &
from 12.5% to 25% during the year (2009: 18% to 25%). BT EPEMGH - RIBEBHETUERT - B
In accordance with the applicable laws and regulations, RZEAEEEPEKINMMERRRING
the Group’s subsidiaries established in the PRC as wholly BEGLERPINEGELE AKEBEBESE
foreign owned enterprises or contractual joint ventures are EHRAEARIPANBKEEEN S BEMNF
entitled to full exemption from Corporate Income Tax for EXd—ZZENF-A-—HEBFAUUAREER
the first two years and a 50% reduction in Corporate ) EMFURRRBNCEMBR  mE
Income Tax for the next three years, commencing from the B=FAEFR -
first profitable year or 1st January, 2008, whichever is
earlier, after offsetting unexpired tax losses carried forward
from previous years.
The subsidiary established in Singapore is subject to REFTINB RS 2 M B A R IRF N CEFB
Singapore Corporate Income Tax at a rate of 17% (2009: B E17% (ZFZNE 17%) B -
17%).
The amount of income tax charged to the consolidated REFEBRREZPNROTIERE
income statement represents:
2010 2009
HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT FET
Current income tax expense BER AT 45 5 B 2
— Hong Kong profits tax — BBNER 6,289 10,906
— PRC Corporate Income Tax — R EMRER 811 188
— Singapore Corporate Income Tax — M ERER 3,964 1,089
Overprovision in prior years WMITFEBAEEE (1,796) (595)
9,268 11,588
Deferred income tax (note 26) BRI P15 F (P 5126) (3,521) (2,475)

5,747 9,113
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11

12

Income tax expense (Continued)

The tax on the Group’s profit before income tax differs
from the theoretical amount that would arise using the
weighted average tax rate applicable to profits of the

group companies as follows:

11

Fri&®im < (&)

AR 2 BB AR M 5t E 2 R EE R R A
SERRZMEFARERFEZERERS
FRER - HERMT

2010 2009
HK$’000 HK$’000
FTHET FET
Profit before income tax B B A1 & A 46,959 68,711
Tax calculated at domestic tax rate applicable ZFTHEBRR b [E 2 i
to profits in the respective countries/ MEREFEZMER
jurisdictions 7,336 13,542
Tax exemption 150 18 2R (1,197) (5,057)
Income not subject to tax B|ARBIA (2,360) (1,029)
Expenses not deductible for tax A B S 7,589 5,164
Deferred tax assets not recognised RERZBELEMEMEE 2,418 248
Recognition of previously unrecognised WRATRER
deferred tax assets EEFTEREE (3,375) (2,040)
Utilisation of previously unrecognised FRNAFERBERZIEL
deferred tax assets FiEHEE (3,007) (926)
Effects of changes in tax rate MEEFHNZE 139 (194)
Overprovision in prior years BEFEBEEE (1,796) (595)
Tax charge Mk z HIE 5,747 9,113

The weighted average applicable tax rate was 16% (2009:
20%). The decrease is mainly caused by the profitability of
the Group’s subsidiaries in the PRC and the impact of the

increase in the PRC tax rate.

Profit attributable to the equity holders of the
Company
Profit attributable to the equity holders of the Company is

dealt with in the financial statements of the Company to
the extent of HK$2,581,000 (2009: Loss of HK$204,000).

12

RAZMEFHRE[BI6%(ZTFNF:
20%) c WE A EEHRAEER P EOHE L
AMEN RSP ECEMBREMNRZEBK -

RAFEHRFBEABEERER

ARAREXZBFEAEBGHENEBREARAK
BARIEZ&AHA4%2,581,0008 L (ZEZ N
& : [F518204,000/8 1) °



13

Earnings per share

Basic

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the
Group's profit attributable to the equity holders of the
Company by the weighted average number of ordinary

shares in issue during the year.

Profit attributable to the equity holders of
the Company (HK$'000)

Weighted average number of

(F B

ordinary shares in issue (‘000)

Basic earnings per share (HK cents)

Diluted

Diluted earnings per share is calculated by adjusting the
weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding
assuming conversion of all dilutive potential ordinary
shares. Shares issuable under the employee share option
scheme are the only dilutive potential ordinary shares. A
calculation is made in order to determine the number of
shares that could have been acquired at fair value
(determined as the average daily market share price of the
Company’s shares) based on the monetary value of the
subscription rights attached to the outstanding share
options. The number of shares calculated as above is
compared with the number of shares that would have

been issued assuming the exercise of the share options.

Profit attributable to the equity holders of the
Company (HK$’000)

Weighted average number of ordinary shares

in issue (‘000)
Adjustments for share options (‘000)

(F B0

Weighted average number of ordinary shares

for diluted earnings per share (‘000)

Diluted earnings per share (HK cents)

There were no dilutive potential ordinary shares in

existence during the year ended 31st March, 2009.

13

FREARF GEL)

B 2 B (T )

SRESREERN MR L B
H0AE S 15 B (F O

g HEE R G

BREA

2N
EREXABFDRENIRAEEZAE AR
fi 7% 2 1B 33 F Bk DA B 31T 5B AR 0 B 49 B

oA
=T H o
al >

RRQ A A AR
(FE&7T)

B 1T & B AR T

2010 2009
41,212 59,598
520,061 499,851
7.92 11.92

s

BREBFRNDEBRRMEABEEENE
BREEMBARD BT EBRINE TG
H-REBEBRESST TREITZRMDAME—
EREBREZEEEBR FHEIEDNR
HWARITEBREMMERER2ERBE"
AR AFERARARD FHERMEEE)
WEZRMEE LR EZROBAE G HE
RRITHBREMEC BT ZRMDEBBLLE -

ARBERFTE ARG LR
(F&7T)

BT E BRI T

2010 2009

41,212 59,598

520,061 499,851

8,055 —
a8
X

528,116 499,851

7.80 11.92

TETAF=ZA=FT-RILEFERATHFEA
BEBEINEBREK-
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14

15

Dividends

Interim dividend — HK$0.01
(2009: HK$0.01) per share

Proposed final dividend — HK$0.015
(2009: HK$0.015) per share

At a meeting held on 21st July, 2010, the directors
proposed a final dividend of HK1.5 cents per share,
amounting to a total dividend of approximately
HK$7,860,000, which is to be approved by the Company’s
equity holders at the Company’s upcoming Annual General
Meeting. This proposed final dividend has not been
reflected as a dividend payable in these consolidated
financial statements as at 31st March, 2010, but has been
reflected as an appropriation of distributable reserves

during the year ended 31st March, 2010.

The amount of proposed final dividend for 2010 was
based on 523,975,288 shares in issue as at 21st July,

14

RHEIRE — B
BEUI (TR AE
FREBEL)

BOREREKRE — TR
BEISI(ZEENE
TR EE.5100)

BRE
2010 2009
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHET
5,221 5,164
7,860 7,745
13,081 12,909

R_ZE—ZF+tA-+—BEHEFEEH
EEEFRBREBEE  FRBEE IS K
B 4858 497,860,000/ 7T+ #% 7 FEJE IR R A F
AREREADABTHFEATH  HERIK
KERERBEE-_Z—ZTF-_A=+—8HZ
RAEMBHRETERBRARMGRE - BEBg
IEBE T —ZEF=-A=Z+—HLLFET
DIRFEHZ DR -

T EFEREREBREBEERE-_T—ZTF
tAZ+—H%EHBAB#ETIRA523,975,288(%

2010. AE-
Leasehold land and land use rights 15 HETHRLtERE
The Group’s interests in leasehold land and land use rights AEBEREEL MR L ERENERETRE
represent prepaid operating lease payments and their net N EHERBEREKEFE  SH0OT:
book amounts are analysed as follows:
2010 2009
HK$’000 HK$’000
FTHERT FET
In Hong Kong held on: REERA
Leases of between 10 to 50 years N F102505F 2 4 3,107 3,195
In PRC held on: RPEFER :
Land use rights of between 10 to 50 years N F105F 25056 2 + i
158 F 1 26,448 26,816

29,555 30,011
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Leasehold land and land use rights (Continued) 15 & + b & + i i B 4 (&)

2010 2009

HK$’000 HK$’000

FET FAT

Beginning of the year F ) 30,011 30,539

Amortisation bl (737) (734)
Translation adjustments E N PR 281 206
End of the year F IR 29,555 30,011

WaRF R ZEHEF S AT

=
K
o

Amortisation expense recognised in the consolidated

income statement is analysed as follows:

2010 2009

HK$’000 HK$’000

TERT FET

Cost of sales FicR=—J 7% 99 98
General and administrative expenses — MR RAITH R X 638 636
737 734

At 31st March, 2010, leasehold land with a total net book R_ZE—ZEFE=ZA=1+—"HEREEFEYD
value of approximately HK$1,940,000 (2009: 1,940,000/ 7T (= & & f1L 5 : 1,996,000/ 7T)
HK$1,996,000) was pledged as collateral for the Group’s ZHETWBEASEERTEERZNBEER

banking facilities (note 33). (BT EE33) ©



108

16

Property, plant and equipment

At 1st April, 2008
Cost
Accumulated depreciation

Net book amount

Year ended 31st March,
2009

Opening net book value

Additions

Depreciation

Disposals

Impairment

Transfers

Translation adjustments

Closing net book value

At 31st March, 2009

Cost
Accumulated depreciation
and impairment

Net book value

Year ended 31st March,
2010

Opening net book value

Additions

Depreciation

Disposals

Write-back of impairment

Transfers

Translation adjustments

Closing net book value

At 31st March, 2010

Cost
Accumulated depreciation
and impairment

Net book value

K-FBNFMA—A
e
E ]

IR FE

BHE_TTNF
ZA=+—HLEFE

FUREFE

NE

il

HE

A

L

Rt ERAE

BRI E

HE-_T—ZF
ZA=+—RIEFEE

FOREFE

ANE

e

HE

L (B [E]

EwE

E AR

FREEFE

R-F—FF

REtFERBE

R % B

16 M¥ -BERRE

Plant and Furniture and Motor  Construction
Buildings machinery equipment vehicles in progress Total
- £ e ERRRE RE ERIR Bt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
FHET FET FET FHET FET FET
172,932 700,923 56,536 15,553 4,689 950,633
(27,431) (387,973) (43,268) (11,961) — (470,633)
145,501 312,950 13,268 3,592 4,689 480,000
145,501 312,950 13,268 3,592 4,689 480,000
1,003 35,246 3,435 2,115 27,148 68,947
(8,904) (57,358) (5,042) (1,188) — (72,492)
— (81) (35) (48) — (164)
(1,000) — — — — (1,000)
7,224 24,453 — — (31,677) —
832 (1,094) 48 (8) 61 (161)
144,656 314,116 11,674 4,463 221 475,130
182,081 754,118 59,476 15,556 221 1,011,452
(37,425) (440,002) (47,802) (11,093) — (536,322)
144,656 314,116 11,674 4,463 221 475,130
144,656 314,116 11,674 4,463 221 475,130
229 19,688 1,357 1,176 3,526 25,976
(6,056) (54,720) (4,787) (1,334) — (66,897)
— (25) (145) a1 — (281)
236 — — — — 236
1,345 378 222 — (1,945) —
1,231 4,433 105 35 9 5,813
141,641 283,870 8,426 4,229 1,811 439,977
185,122 784,441 61,430 15,060 1,811 1,047,864
(43,481) (500,571) (53,004) (10,831) — (607,887)
141,641 283,870 8,426 4,229 1,811 439,977
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16 Property, plant and equipment (Continued) 16 ¥ -BERKMEE)
(@) Depreciation expense recognised in the consolidated (@) RIEANRRTERIZIFERS 2
income statement is analysed as follows: T

2010 2009
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Cost of sales 3 & B AR 60,919 66,382
Selling and distribution costs HELDIEER 661 758
General and administrative expenses — M RITHAX 5,317 5,352
66,897 72,492
(b)  Construction in progress mainly represents factories by EEREIRBRFEZEEEPBHEZHOEER

and office buildings under construction and plant MAEBFMLREAAMKSE -

and machinery under installation in the PRC.

(c) At 31st March, 2010, buildings with a total net () MZE—ZF=ZF=+—H EEZFE
book value of approximately HK$2,397,000 (2009: #92,397,0007% 7L (ZZEZ LEF © 2,466,000
HK$2,466,000) were pledged as collateral for the BLIZEFHEASBRTEEREZ
Group’s banking facilities (note 33). o 8 A (B RE33) -

(d) Finance leases (d) R ELE]

Certain machinery is held under finance leases. BETHENEBEZNERE EHEEE
Details of these assets are: ZEIBWT

2010 2009

HK$’000 HK$’000

THERT TET

Cost B AR — 9,242

Less: Accumulated depreciation o REHITE — (3,697)

Net book value REEE — 5,545

Depreciation for the year REEFE — 980
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17

Investments in and balances with subsidiaries 17

— Company

Investment in unlisted shares, at cost
Amounts due from subsidiaries

Less: Accumulated impairment losses

Amounts due to subsidiaries

LR B
JIE W [ /88 1~ R 3R

B REPRER A

JE 1< Y /B8 xR IR

The amounts due from subsidiaries are unsecured, interest

free and are considered as equity in nature. All amounts

are denominated in Hong Kong dollars.

The amounts due to subsidiaries are unsecured, interest

free and are repayable on demand. Except for an amount
of approximately HK$1,080,000 (2009: HK$1,082,000)

which

denominated in Hong Kong dollars.

is denominated in Renminbi,

the balances are

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries as at 31st March,

2010 were as follows:

Place of incorporation
and operations

SRR S R S R

Name of company

DEEE

Starlite International (Holdings) Ltd. British Virgin Islands

KBHBERARES

Starlite Printers Holdings Cook Cook Islands

Islands Limited (R
Starlite Printers (Far East) Pte. Ltd. Singapore
N

Everfar Holdings Limited British Virgin Islands

HBEBREE
Starlite Visual Communication Hong Kong
Limited N0

EXRBREARAA

Star Union Limited
ERERAR

Hong Kong/the PRC
BE/F

RBRARAZRERNRE

— XA FH
2010 2009
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHAT
91,449 91,449
165,797 197,617
257,246 289,066
9,457) (9,457)
247,789 279,609
(56,639) (79,882)

NP B A R FRIR Ty AR R R EF B R AR AE
AR MEE A RBEABITIIE -

ERWEARIRBHERER T kFE
ZREE - BREFR —Z£491,080,0008 L (ZF
T N4+ 1,082,0007% 7T) B R IE A A RS E
GN - BRI AE TTHIE ©

RZE-—ZTF=ZRA=+—H FEZWNBEAA
AHMT

Issued and Percentage of equity
fully paid capital interest held Principal activities
ERTRBRREK FiEREB DL TEXK
Directly Indirectly
HE =
us$2 100% — Investment holding
2%ETT BERR
US$200 100% — Investment holding
2003 7T AR
$$8,759,396 100% — Printing of packaging
8,759,396 N3 7T materials and production
of paper products
BEM BRI R ARG EE
US$20,000 50% 50% Investment holding

20,0003 7T

HK$2,000,000 —
2,000,0007% 7T

HK$2 —
28T

REZER
100% Inactive

fr) B 1 2

100% Property holding
ESE-RZES
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Investments in and balances with subsidiaries 17

— Company (Continued)

Name of company

DEEH

Starlite Consumer Products, Limited

Starlite Entertainment (Holdings)
Limited

Starlite International Development
Limited

Starlite International Marketing
Services Limited

Starlite Laser Graphics Limited
EEZRHFHOCHERIA

Starlite Management Services
Limited

Starlite Packaging Technology
Consultancy Limited

Starlite Development International
Limited
EXRBREBERAR

Starlite Paper Products Limited
ERARERAAF

Starlite Printers Limited

EHXENRIB R A A

Starlite Printers HK Holdings (BVI)
Limited

Place of incorporation
and operations

003 E Sk

British Virgin Islands
HBRBREE

British Virgin Islands
RBEARES

British Virgin Islands/Hong Kong

British Virgin Islands/Hong Kong
ABEBREEBE

Hong Kong
o

Hong Kong
o)

British Virgin Islands
RBEARES

Hong Kong
o)

Hong Kong/the PRC
B/ HHE

Hong Kong
o

British Virgin Islands
KBEARES

— X2 7 (#)

Issued and
fully paid capital
ERTRAZRE

US$1
17T

US$1
1%7T

US$1
17T

US$1
1%7T

HK$3,230,000 ordinary
3,230,000/ 7T
Em R R 1D
HK$170,000
non-voting deferred (ii)
170,000/ 7T

R R

Bt (i)

HK$200
2007 7T

US$1
1%7T

HK$200
2007 7T

HK$1,738,000 ordinary
1,738,000/ 7T
Egalidian)
HK$262,000
non-voting deferred (ii)
262,000/ 7T
BIRRERT

&3 (i)

HK$2,700,000 ordinary
2,700,0007% 7T

& m AR R 1R
HK$2,300,000
non-voting deferred (ii)
2,300,000 7T

IR SRR T

B9 (i)

US$1
1%7T

Percentage of equity
interest held
FiERET Dt
Directly Indirectly
HE i
— 100%
— 100%
— 100%

— 100%

— 100%

— 100%

— 100%

— 100%

— 100%

— 100%

— 100%

RBRARAZRERNRE

Principal activities

EEEK

Investment holding

BEZEE

Investment holding
BERR

Inactive

fr) B 1 2

Inactive

e % 1F %

Inactive

fa) B 1 2

Provision of management
services

REEE RS

Holding of trade and
service marks

HEESRIRBER

Trading of paper products
MERRES

Production of paper
products

Mok E

Printing and trading of
packaging materials

BEMBERLE S

Investment holding
BERR

111
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Investments in and balances with subsidiaries

— Company (Continued)

Name of company

DEEHE

Starlite Printers (China) Limited
ERER (R E)BRRAF

Starlite Printers (Shenzhen) Co.,
Ltd. (i)
EXER RN BRAF ()

Starlite Printers (Suzhou) Co., Ltd. (i)
EXER EMBRAF ()

Place of incorporation
and operations

SRR S R S B

British Virgin Islands
KBHEARES

The PRC
F

The PRC
F B

17 RMBARAZRERNE
— A7 ()

Issued and
fully paid capital
BERTRERREK

US$100
1003 7T

US$8,000,000
8,000,000% 7T

US$20,000,000
20,000,0003& 7T

Percentage of equity
interest held
FiEREB DL
Directly Indirectly
HE =
— 100%

— 100%

— 100%

— 100%

— 100%

— 100%

— 100%

— 100%

Principal activities

ETEXEK

Investment holding

AR

Printing of packaging
materials and production
of paper products

BERMBENR R AR EE

Printing of packaging
materials and production
of paper products and
labels

BLE M B EN R B AR i R
BRRAEE

Investment holding

BEEK

Investment holding

BEZEE

Production of environmental
friendly and other paper
products

EERRREMAEE R

Investment holding and
trading of environmental
friendly and other paper
products

BE R RIRR R H b 4L
HERES

Printing of packaging
materials and production
of paper products

BEMEHENR] K
Mo R

BRERMNEARRPOLOERARIN EFEKLZ 2

Starlite Productions (BVI) Limited British Virgin Islands US$256,420
RBEARES 256,420% 7T
Starlite Productions (Holdings) British Virgin Islands US$1
Limited RBEBARES 1% 7T
Guangzhou Starlite Environmental The PRC US$6,000,000
Friendly Center, Limited (i) FE 6,000,000 7T
EMEXRRRPOLOBERRF ()
Greenworks International Limited Hong Kong HK$2
HEIRBERBERAT 2 28T
Shaoguan Fortune Creative The PRC US$6,000,000
Industries Company Limited (i) =] 6,000,000 T
BAREABIERRAA ()
Notes: fifaE
(i) Except for Guangzhou Starlite Environmental Friendly Center, Limited, (i)
all of these subsidiaries are incorporated in the PRC and are wholly
foreign owned companies to be operated for 50 years up to 2042.
Guangzhou Starlite Environmental Friendly Center, Limited is a
contractual joint venture established in the PRC to be operated for
50 years up to 2044. Under the joint venture agreement, the joint
venture partner is entitled to a pre-determined fee and is not entitled
to share any profit or required to bear any loss of the joint venture.
(ii) The non-voting deferred shares are not owned by the Group. These (ii)

shares have no voting rights and are not entitled to dividends unless
the net profit of the relevant company exceeds HK$50,000,000,000
and are not entitled to any distributions upon winding up unless a
sum of HK$50,000,000,000 has been distributed by the relevant
company to the holders of its ordinary shares.

None of the subsidiaries had any loan capital in issue at
any time during the year ended 31st March, 2010 (2009:
Nil). =%

BHBARBRIIEZEREE KEFHALTEF
BEE-TWM_F L - BMEXRRPLBERRAT
EHRBERIZAFRERE KEFHL+F HE
ZENEESLE - REAGEHH  AEBH TS —
FHETEAZIRAE HEEEHIGEAELRZEMNA
Mk B R EE -

hWEBRRERBETROYFAAEEMES - LFR
it ERERE - BRIFBEBERE ZEFEB
50,000,000,000/% 7T * TRIF A AEEZHIKRE W
BHLRRBEN  TERZEEMSK RIFAHEA
A1) A AR AR SR A 2 9 R 3 £ 50,000,000,0007 T, ©

FERNBRARBEE-_Z—ZETF=A=+—
BLEFEREMEREEEETEEER(Z

JUE ) o
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Available-for-sale financial assets 18

Beginning of the year F 1)

Net change in fair values transferred to equity &5 = J§ Kz B9 A
FRR

End of the year FR

Available-for-sale financial assets represent listed equity
securities in Hong Kong and are denominated in Hong

Kong dollars.

As at 31st March, 2010 and 2009, all available-for-sale

financial assets were stated at their market values.

Inventories 19

Raw materials B
Work-in-progress B m
Finished goods YR

The cost of inventories recognised as expense and
included in cost of sales amounted to HK$605,309,000
(2009: HK$652,066,000).

During the year, the Group wrote-back provisions for
inventory obsolescence of approximately HK$7,414,000
(2009: provision for HK$8,992,000), which was included
in cost of sales.

As at 31st March, 2010, there were floating charges over
certain of the Group’s
HK$34,163,000 (2009: HK$22,540,000) to secure the trust

receipts bank loan arrangements (note 33).

inventories of approximately

AMEEMBEEE
2010 2009
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FH&T
936 1,393

AFEE

315 (457)
1,251 936

HHEMBEEANES LTOBLFIT A
E%TEEUTEO

R-F-—TFER-FTTAF=A=+—8"
FARHLEEMBEEEIUTSEERZT) -

H
2010 2009

HK$’000 HK$’000

FTHT FHET

70,987 65,173

28,463 16,997

32,702 26,368

132,152 108,538

7 & B A&~ A £ 49605,309,0008 T (—EZF N,

£ : 652,066,000/ L) R AR L5 AHEE
R A o

RAFEER  AEBSESEEREREDRY
7,414,000/ 70 (Z T T 7L F : # 168,992,000/5
J0)  WEIE B AEEK AT -

R-ZE-—ZETFE=ZA=Z+—HBH A&EEHAE
34,163, ooo,aﬁ( T T S F 1 22,540,00078
T2 FEREREBRITERZHIERER
(Bt 5E33) °
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20

Trade and bill receivables, prepayments and

deposits

Trade receivables

receivables

Trade receivables — net

Bill receivables JE W E %
Trade and bill receivables 2 5 REWRER R R
Prepayments and deposits BNRERRS

The carrying amounts of trade and bill receivables,

prepayments and deposits approximate their fair values.

The Group grants to its customers credit terms generally

ranging from 30 to 120 days. The ageing analysis of trade

and bill receivables by invoice date is as follows:

B 5 I WR R
Less: provision for impairment of  J& :  JE Uk BR BRI (E B 8

BEZRUERRERE  BARE
Kz

Group Company
S AL
2010 2009 2010 2009

HK$’000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
FTET TET FTERT THET

222,183 196,020 — —

(16,162) (26,791) — —

B REWIRR — FE

206,021 169,229
4,540 3,515 — _

210,561 172,744 — —
14,731 8,256 897 693

225,292 181,000 897 693

BHEREEREZER BNFERZSNE
EEQBSENREQRFE-

SEHAETREEEHR R A/ORE120RT
Z-BHEWRERRZBRZERHEIRERH)
DT

2010 2009

HK$’000 HK$’000

THET TET

1 to 90 days 1£290K 186,319 155,194
91 to 180 days 91£180K 35,065 37,462
181 to 365 days 181E365K 3,073 5,987
Over 365 days B i@365K 2,266 892
226,723 199,535

Less: Provision for impairment of receivables & : Ji& 4 BR Rl (8 B 1 (16,162) (26,791)
210,561 172,744

As at 31st March, 2010 trade receivables
HK$163,316,000 (2009: HK$149,845,000) were fully
performing. Trade receivables of HK$58,867,000 (2009:
HK$46,175,000) exhibited indications of impairment, and
a total of HK$16,162,000 (2009: HK$26,791,000)
provision has been made. The remaining HK$42,705,000
(2009: HK$19,384,000) were past due but not impaired
and they were overdue less than 90 days. These relate to

a number of independent customers for whom there is no

recent history of default.

RZZE—ZTF=ZR=+—H BHEKER
163,316,000 7T (= T ZT NL4F : 149,845,000/
TAZHEESET BES5EKER
58,867,000/ T (= T T 7L F : 46,175,000/%5
7o) IR R E & R - K& 2 5816,162,000% T
(ZZ T N F 26,791,000/ 1) & 1 B B
& 8 T 242,705,000 (= T T A F:
19,384,000/ ) B @ BB R AR B k@ B
FROOK ZEREW RAHAY ERW AL 2
ZEZBURFE o
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Trade and bill receivables, prepayments and 20 ESZERWRRRERE AARE
deposits (Continued) ki€ ()

The Group’s trade and bill receivables were denominated AEBZESHEBERRERUATIEESE :
in the following currencies:

2010 2009
HK$'000 HK$’000
FET FET
Hong Kong dollars BT 50,477 42,354
United States dollars X 98,380 83,701
Chinese Renminbi AR 46,618 43,977
Singapore dollars IR 12,376 13,177
Others H 18,872 16,326
226,723 199,535
Movements in the provision for impairment of trade BSRWEREFBRERBECEHNOT
receivables are as follows:
2010 2009
HK$’000 HK$’000
THERT TET
Beginning of the year F9] 26,791 26,482
(Write-back of)/provision for impairment of FE U BR TR B (B 18) B
trade receivables (10,131) 13,073
Receivables written off during the year as FARREEWE 2 fE
uncollectible BR AR AT 8 (744) (12,543)
Translation adjustment E 3 246 (221)
End of the year F IR 16,162 26,791
The creation and release of provision for impairment of BHRWEFRERBLEEHERES K
trade receivables have been included in general and mER M EITBRA SR AR -
administrative expenses in the consolidated income
statement.
The other classes within trade and bill receivables, RESEREREEZE BNRBEBEREZS2S
prepayments and deposits do not contain impaired assets. WEMBERNT TREEREEE -
The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date RBEER LA EEKERNESEERR
is the fair value of each class of receivables mentioned HERERAFE - AEE L AFFA EAHE

above. The Group does not hold any collateral as security. AR o
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21 Derivative financial instruments 21 fT4€@mIT A

Assets Liabilities
BE &8f&
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET

As at 31st March, 2010 R-_E—ZFF=-A=+—H
Forward foreign exchange contracts (note (a)) REHINES X (M 7E@)) 72 —
Interest-rate swaps (note (b)) MEHE L (HEb) — (3,502)

As at 31st March, 2009 RZEThRF=A=+—H
Forward foreign exchange contracts (note (a)) &HIAMNE S 4 (K 7)) 639 —
Interest-rate swaps (note (b)) Flxi= 85 % (Bt b)) — (3,930)

Notes: B 5
(a) Details of the outstanding forward foreign exchange contracts at 31st (a) RZETAF=ZA=+—BR=ZFT—TF=A
March, 2009 and 31st March, 2010 are as follows: =+t—A MAREENRYINESHFBLT
2010 2009

US$ to RMB US$ to RMB RMB to US$

Notional principal amounts READHE
Fixed contracted exchange rates AREE R E
Actual exchange rates BRAGE

(b) The notional principal amount of the outstanding interest-rate swaps

contract at 31st March, 2010 was HK$50,000,000 (2009:
HK$50,000,000). At 31st March, 2010, the interest rate swaps fixed
the interest rate at 3.73% (2009: 3.73%) from the floating rate at
Hong Kong Interbank Offered Rate.

22 Bank balances and cash 22
Cash at bank and in hand WITRFEAS
Short-term bank deposits EHRITER

= 1

oip

&R g

]Dl

Maximum exposure to credit risk

As at 31st March, 2010, the effective interest rate on cash
at bank, short-term bank deposits was 0.28% (2009:
0.70%). The short-term bank deposits have an average
maturity of 3 months (2009: 7 months).

ERHRARY ETHAR®K  ARBHEERT

US$1,000,000  US$6,000,000 RMB39,115,000

6.9100 6.6702-6.5798  0.1518-0.1548

6.8110 6.8818 0.1453

(b) RZT—ZTF=ZA=+—8B DALENFRIEH
A 48 % TE AN & 8 A50,000,0008 T (Z T T NF ¢
50,000,000 L) c R =ZF—TF=A=+—H 7
REPENUBERTAEREBERIDAETE
B EFI R A3.73B(ZTTNF :3.73E) °

RITEFRAS

Group Company
£8 N
2010 2009 2010 2009

HK$'000  HK$000  HK$000  HK$'000
TER TAT TRET TAT

151,678 92,577 1,204 112
33,298 21,117 — —

184,976 113,694 1,204 112

183,632 111,204 1,204 112

RZE—ZTF=ZRA=+—BRTGFEH -EH
RITFERZBHANEBFB02E(ZET N
F:070E) WERBRITHFERTFHIEA
AB3EA(ZZTZTNF - 7@A) -
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Bank balances and cash (Continued) 22
Bank balances and cash were denominated in the
following currencies:

Hong Kong dollars BT

Chinese Renminbi AR

United States dollars E7T

Euro E

Singapore dollars N T

Others Hth

The Group’s cash and cash equivalents denominated in
Renminbi are deposited with banks in the PRC. The
conversion of these Chinese Renminbi denominated
balances into foreign currencies and the remittance of
funds out of the PRC is subject to the foreign exchange
control rules and regulations promulgated by the PRC
Government.

For the purpose of cash flow statements, cash and cash
equivalents include the followings:

Cash at bank and in hand RITEFHERE
Short-term bank deposits with maturity less DR =EAREZ
than 3 months EEIRITIER
Bank overdrafts (note 23) RT3 2 (M1 7523)

ROTEERRE (H)

RITEFRRE IR TERIE

Group Company
S A

2010 2009 2010 2009
HK$’000  HK$'000  HK$000  HK$'000
TER TAET TER THETT
31,229 15,118 1,204 112
37,561 41,492 — —
60,599 28,484 — —
5,318 1,161 — —
42,439 26,396 — —
7,830 1,043 — —
184,976 113,694 1,204 112

AEBEUARBIEZRAE2RREEETRE
BMRAEZRIT - HAREBRERINERE

ROIEE -

A BB R B O 2R R 2 SME B HIAR Bl R

REaRmEarRTNREABSFTERETI:

2010 2009

HK$’000 HK$'000

FHET FATT

151,678 92,577

16,854 -

(7,989) (12,244)

160,543 80,333
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23

Borrowings

Long-term bank loans
Short-term bank loans

Trust receipts import bank loans
Bank overdrafts

Less: amounts due within one year shown

under current liabilities

Non-current portion

The borrowings are repayable as follows:

Within 1 year
Between 1 and 2 years
Between 2 and 5 years
Over 5 years

The carrying amounts of bank borrowings were

denominated in the following currencies:

Hong Kong dollars
Chinese Renminbi
United States dollars

23 ®WE
2010 2009
HK$’000 HK$’000
FH&xT FAT
RHEBIRITER 101,735 144,795
HERITER 65,466 32,426
ErrliiEE NRITE R 34,163 22,540
RITEX 7,989 12,244
209,353 212,005

WA RBABEZIFA
B HR 5B (153,357) (139,251)
JEBNHA Z 15 55,996 72,754

BEZHEHBAMT
2010 2009
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHxT FBT
1 K 153,357 139,251
1224 31,350 37,172
2E5F 24,557 35,447
BB 89 135
209,353 212,005
RITMEZEAENNEATEEIE :

2010 2009
HK$’000 HK$’000
FExT FAT
BT 159,756 181,908
AR 40,769 27,803
ETT 8,828 2,294
209,353 212,005
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Borrowings (Continued)
The effective interest rates (per annum) at the end of

reporting period were as follows:

HK$

BT

Bank overdrafts HRITEX 5.57%
Trust receipts import bank {5 #E Y I5 3 O

loans RITER 4.26%

Short-term bank loans HERITER 2.13%

Long-term bank loans RHEEITER 2.06%

23

2010
RMB
ARE

5.97%
5.35%

mE (&)
RBEERBZARENEMAT

2009
US$ HK$ RMB Us$
ESp BT AR EV

— 4.14% - —

5.37% 4.60% — 4.16%
— 4.53% 7.84% —
— 2.17% 5.35% —

The fair value of long-term bank loans was approximately
HK$97,911,000 as at 31st March, 2010 (2009:
HK$144,135,000). The fair value of long-term bank loans
was determined by discounting the future cash flows at
the current market interest rate available to the Group.
Other than the long-term bank loans, the carrying amounts
of other borrowings approximate their fair values as at
31st March, 2010.

Details of the banking facilities available to the Group and

pledge of assets are disclosed in note 33.

RZE—ZEF=ZA=+—H RHETEXK
Z AV EHAE7,911,0008 L (Z T T N F -
144,135,000 7T) - RHAIRITE R Z A FET)
BEEETAEENRBMSNE  KHE
ReREBEHRHE - RZT—TF=A=+—81"
BREBRITERIN EMHERMEREEL R
ERERNTFE-

AREBROTERCEEAREEBRBEFIRN
733
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Finance lease obligations

Total minimum lease payments under finance

leases
— not exceeding one year

Less: Future finance charges

The present value of obligations under finance

leases
— not exceeding one year

Less: amount due within one year shown

under current liabilities

As at 3Tst March, 2009, all of the Group’s finance lease

obligations were denominated in Singapore dollars.

24 HMIBRBNE®

2010 2009
HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT FET

B R A REHEK
— THBIF — 735
— 735
W KRR E — (®)
— 727
2010 2009
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET

TR EHNRE
— TBEIE — 727
— 727

B IARBEBZIER

B HA R AR — (727)

TERAF=ZA=1T—B AEEZ2HY
B - AR IR T HIE -

As at 31st March, 2009, the effective interest rate of the RZEZAF=ZA=+—H FBEHEH
finance leases obligations was 5.53% per annum. 2B BMENER553E -
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Trade and bill payables

The ageing analysis of trade and bill payables is as

follows:

1 to 90 days 1E90K

91 to 180 days 91E 180K

181 to 365 days 181E365K
Over 365 days HBiE365K

The Group’s trade and bill payables were denominated in

the following currencies:

Hong Kong dollars BT
Chinese Renminbi AR
United States dollars EVD
Others Hm

Deferred income tax

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is
a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets
against current tax liabilities and when the deferred
income tax assets and liabilities relate to income tax
levied by same taxation authority on either the taxable
entity or different taxable entities where there is an
intention to settle the balances on a net basis. The net

amounts are as follows:

25

26

BEZRENRIRERRE

BIENERLRERREDMAOT

2010 2009
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FAET
169,278 86,774
10,917 11,781
150 3,253

333 475
180,678 102,283

FEEZEGRNERRZBRIATIEEINE -

2010 2009
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET
66,858 33,518
81,414 40,659
6,251 2,758
26,155 25,348
180,678 102,283

EEFEB

WEBREARITEMNBRERBEELS
EREABHE AREMSHEEREE
B EkE-MREEREERFREERE
MABREBIATRARNERBBRNAER
AETEmSHEELREN EREHE ¥R

LU

Deferred tax assets to be recovered after more 1§ #88121@ A 1% U [@ &9 & &

than 12 months
Deferred tax liabilities to be settled after

12 months

Deferred tax liabilities, net

ST E E
#1218 A& M8 R B IE
FEHaRE

BT SR B EFHE

2010 2009
HK$/000 HK$'000
FHER FAT
(5,816) (3,835)
12,148 13,495
6,332 9,660
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Deferred income tax (Continued) 26 EEFSBH(E)
The net movement in the deferred tax account is as RIEFMBHRFR2EEFBOT
follows:
2010 2009
HK$’000 HK$’000
THERT THET
Beginning of the year F 1) 9,660 12,428
Credited to income statement (note 11) g /e A (BFEET1) (3,521) (2,475)
Translation adjustments JE B 193 (293)
End of the year F 4R 6,332 9,660
The movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities B EAREERBE 28 (W AHERNAE
without taking into consideration the offsetting of balances —HFME Y SIS M T
within the same tax jurisdiction are as follows:
Deferred tax assets: EEFEHREE
Tax losses Provisions Total
BIEE R BE e
2010 2009 2010 2009 2010 2009

Beginning of the year
Credited/(charged) to income

statement
Translation adjustments

End of the year

Deferred tax liabilities:

Beginning of the year
Credited to income statement
Translation adjustment

End of the year

HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEx THExT TFTER TET TFTER TAET

F1) — 4,452 5,676 1,043 5,676 5,495
R ERFPEA
yacil’y) 3,374 (4,452) 93 4,633 3,467 181
JEH A — — 37 — 37 —
Fr 3,374 — 5,806 5,676 9,180 5,676
EEREHREE:
Accelerated taxation depreciation
MEBRBERE
2010 2009
HK$’000 HK$’000
FEx FET
F ) 15,336 17,923
R EmRFEFA (54) (2,294)
EH AR 230 (293)
FR 15,512 15,336
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Deferred income tax (Continued)

The Group has not recognised deferred tax assets of
approximately HK$20,629,000 (2009: HK$22,671,000).
Out of the total unrecognised deferred tax assets in respect
of tax losses and provisions, tax effect of cumulative tax
losses that can be carried forward against future taxable
income (subject to agreement by the relevant tax
authorities) to HK$16,857,000 (2009:
HK$20,820,000). The cumulative tax losses can be carried
forward indefinitely, except for HK$1,223,000 tax effect of

amounted

cumulative tax losses as at 31st March, 2009 will expire
in 2012 to 2013.

Share capital

Authorised — TEERAE —
Ordinary shares of HK$0.1 each BREETETZ
gl
Issued and fully paid — gEETh#ME —
Ordinary shares of HK$0.1 each: SR EE0.1/8 T2
AR
Beginning of the year F )
Issue of shares under open offer NFEE T
(Note) Ry (B )
Issue of shares upon exercise of A 17 138 7% A%

share options 217 2 i

End of the year Fe

Note:

On 18th June 2008, the Company issued 86,059,197 ordinary shares of
HK$0.1 each at a subscription price of HK$0.35 per offer share in connection
with an open offer. The net proceeds of the open offer were approximately
HK$28,827,000.

26

27

ELE BB ()
AEEBRERELEHRSEHE E 20,629,000
BIT(ZTTAF 22,671,000 70) ° B B
BEERBEEORERELEMEHNEELR
7 16,857,000/ T (— T T AL 4 : 20,820,000
BT RFHEBENORBTZE  ATEE L
WHEARERT WA (BESE BB KE
ABE)-BR_ZTZTAF=A=+—8H
1,223, 0008 TEA B EEENOREZE - 1§
RIE——FE2-_ZT—=—FFEmn EHNZR
FIRIEEE ERERTR

fig 2
2010 2009
Number of Nominal Number of Nominal
shares value shares value
v g HE RKRHHE R
‘000 HK$’000 ‘000 HK$'000
TR FER TR OFAET
1,000,000 100,000 1,000,000 100,000
516,355 51,636 430,296 43,029
— — 86,059 8,607
7,620 762 — —
523,975 52,398 516,355 51,636
B &

RZZEZENFAATNB ARAIRBEAMEE  #1T
86,059,197 FREEONETHERR  BRESEKRHMHA
(B 720.35/8 7T + N B B T 18 SORF #E4928,827,000/ 7T ©
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Employee share options

In 2002, the Company adopted an employee share option
scheme (the “Share Option Scheme”). Under the Share
Option Scheme, the Company may grant options to
employees (including Executive Directors of the Company)
to subscribe for shares in the Company, subject to a
maximum of 30% of the nominal value of the issued share
capital of the Company from time to time excluding for
this purpose any shares issued on the exercise of options.
The exercise price will be determined by the Company’s
board of directors and shall be at least the highest of (i)
the closing price of the Company’s shares on the date of
grant of the options, (ii) an average closing price of the
Company’s shares for the five trading days immediately
preceding the date of grant of the options, and (iii) the
nominal value of the Company’s shares of HK$0.1 each.
The Group has no legal or constructive obligation to

repurchase or settle the options in cash.

Movements in the number of share options outstanding

and their related weighted average exercise prices are as

follows:

At Tst April REA—H

Adjustment after the open offer ARBEERNAR
(Note (a)) (Mt 5% (@)

Granted (Note (b)) B (& b))

Exercised (Note (c)) 7118 (3£ (0))

Lapsed E

At 31st March W=A=+—H

28

EBEBKRE

R-ZEZT-F ARBIRSK—EEBRE
S ((EkEta)) REBRESSARA A
MET(BREARAZHTER) R OB RE
NRBEARARND MABETZROERS
RARBAREETRMD 230%  EFFE
RAiTfEkEmETZRO -BBERAR
RAlzEEZERET EAAERKRTIT=ZEZR
mEORNREBBARR RN 2 KRTHE (i)
ARABRONEERG AR AEEERAZ
B A F e (8 ¢ R AR R B fn 2 & (B
FROVET) - AEBEIEEERMETEED
BRUARS I FERE -

0 5 17 B A A8 B B TR AR A 1 5 O 9
THEEHOT

2010 2009

Weighted Number of Weighted ~ Number of
average share average share
exercise price options  exercise price options
THEE BkRE T fE B
Pk R HE RETEH A

HK$ HK$

BT BT
0.397 39,864,847 0.475 6,765,000
— — 389,847
— 0.385 32,710,000
0.393 (7,620,102) — —
0.434 (8,064,745) — —
0.385 24,180,000 0.397 39,864,847
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Employee share options (Continued)

Share options outstanding at 31st March, 2010 have the

following exercise dates, expiry dates and exercise prices:

First exercise date

BRITEA S

9th August, 2007
—ZEELFNANAB

21st January, 2009
—EThREFE-A=-+—H

1st August, 2009
—EZEAFNA—H

1st August, 2010
—E-ZFEN\A—H

1st August, 2011
e AY: =

Expiry dates
& B 5

8th February, 2010
—E-FTF-AR

20th January, 2013
—ET-=%—A=+H

20th January, 2013
—E-—=F—H=+H

20th January, 2013
—ET-=%—A=+H

20th January, 2013
—E-—=F—H=+H

As at 31st March, 2010, 11,180,000 (2009: 18,714,847)

share options were exercisable.

Notes:

(a) Following the completion of the open offer of the Company’s shares
in June 2008, the number of share options and share exercise price
of the share options granted on 9th February, 2007 have been
adjusted from 6,765,000 to 7,154,847 and from HK$0.475 per share

to HK$0.449 per share respectively.

28 EEBREGE)
R-T—TE=A=+-—BHATENER
BHTERE BERBHRAEEMNT

Exercise price
TEE

HK$

BT

0.449

0.385

0.385

0.385

0.385

Number of share options

BRERE
2010 2009
— 7,154,847
4,480,000 11,560,000
6,700,000 7,050,000
6,500,000 7,050,000
6,500,000 7,050,000
24,180,000 39,864,847

R-ZZE—ZTFZA=Z+—BATENERE
218 A11,180,000 ( ZZZ JL4F : 18,714,847) °

B3 -

(a) 2T NFERNARRBLDHABEETKE R_ZZT
tHEZANBEELEMKRITEZBRE BB kT
% 18 9 5l $56,765,000/% # £ £7,154,8478% & B8 & Ik
TEE0.4758 TR EFRITHEH0.4498 T ©
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Employee share options (Continued)
Notes: (Continued)
(b) The fair values of options granted on 21st July, 2008 were

determined by using the trinomial option pricing model. The
significant inputs into the model for options granted were as follows:

28 EEBEKRE(E)

fEE (%)

b R-FEAFELA-+—BERBRENATE
RELEE RS Y EEEE RN 1Y T
HEAHADZERENT

Share price per share at grant date (HK$) R EHMNERBRECET) 0.385
Exercise price per share (HK$) FRTEBET) 0385
Share volatility GRS EIES 31.685%
Dividend yield % 2Ok B X 6.46%
Average annual risk-free interest rate 3 B B 3P 15 R R 3.252%
Expected exercise multiple BT EEHR 1.3x

Volatility is based on 234 weekly (equivalent to 4.5 years) volatility
of the Company.

The vesting of the share options is subject to the achievements of
certain net profits of the Group for the years ended/ending 31st
March, 2008, 2009, 2010 and 2011. Based on the probability of
fulfilling the vesting condition as assessed by management of the
Group, the fair values of the share options granted during the year
ended 31st March, 2009 are as follows:

First exercise date

BRATERY

21st January, 2009
ZETAF-AZ+—H

1st August, 2009
—ETAEFENA—R

1st August, 2010
—T-T#/\A-H

1st August, 2011
—T-—%/\A-H

ARRRTEER B R Ty 152342 B (B ER45F )t E -

BERENSBRRARASEELTEIN _TTN\F -
ZERRNF —F-FRFERIF—FZA=+—
AEFENETREMNER REASEERENG
ZHEBGRONATRE R2ZETAF=ZRA=+—
ALEFEARNBRENATENT

Probability in fulfilling
the vesting condition

Fair value of options

No. of options granted per share

BRENE EERBIRR TR RUBRENSRAFE

HK$

BT

11,560,000 100% 0.0525

7,050,000 100% 0.0525

7,050,000 25% 0.0131

7,050,000 15% 0.0079
32,710,000

Based on the above, the fair value of the above options granted on
21st July, 2008 was approximately HK$1,125,000. The attributable
amount charged to the consolidated income statement during the
year ended 31st March, 2010 was approximately HK$171,000 (2009:
HK$917,000).

(c) Options exercised in 2010 resulted in 7,620,102 shares being issued
at a weighted average price of HK$0.393 each. The related weighted
average share price at the time of exercise was HK$0.608 per share.

BEER RZZTNFLtA-+-BEREOER
D FEL1,1250008 T R —TF=A
S+ HEEANBARZRPHBROALED
171,000/ 7T (ZZZ L4 : 917,000/ 7T) °

(© WNZF - TFERITEREREM T 77,620,1028
HniEFHITEE R ER0393B T - RITER AN
¥ 1 BB & & 0.6088 T
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Reserves 29 f#fE
Share-based
Share Capital  compensati Investment Translation Retained
premium reserve reserve reserve reserve profits Total
REERE BXmE  ROMERE RERE ERGRE REEF aE
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET FET FET FExT
Group £@
As at 1st April, 2008 R_ETN\EF
mA—A 104,527 1,169 1,484 657 33,778 248,515 390,130
Profit attributable to the equity ~ AQEEZEZH A
holders of the Company JE {555 F — — — — — 59,598 59,598
Other comprehensive income He2mmkz
— Decrease in fair value of — A ESR
available-for-sale financial EEZATE
assets B — — — (457) — — (457)
— Currency translation — EXREZE
differences — — — — (7,250) — (7,250)
Total comprehensive income FREEKELE
for the year — — — (457) (7,250) 59,598 51,891
Issue of shares under open offer 72 % & 3717 j {3
(note 27) (Fff 5£27) 20,220 — — — — — 20,220
Employee share option scheme & B i & £ 5t &l
— Share based payments — B RS — — 917 — — — 917
Dividends paid BERRE — — — — — (12,909) (12,909)
20,220 — 917 (457) (7,250 46,689 60,119
As at 31st March, 2009
124,747 1,169 2,401 200 26,528 295,204 450,249
As at Tst April, 2009 R-ZBTNEF
mA—A 124,747 1,169 2,401 200 26,528 295,204 450,249
Profit attributable to the equity ~ AA T EFE A
holders of the Company JE 535 F — — — — — 41,212 41,212
Other comprehensive income Hh 2
— Increase in fair value of — A SN
available-for-sale financial EEZATE
assets A — — — 315 — — 315
— Currency translation —EREZR
differences — — — — 11,154 — 11,154
Total comprehensive income ER2EWBLHE
for the year — — — 315 11,154 41,212 52,681
Employee share option scheme (& B & & 1 51 &
— lIssue of shares upon — T EEERE
exercise of employee [k o002 8%)
share options 2,657 — (422) — — — 2,235
— Share based payments — B NEE — — 171 — — — 171
Dividends paid ERKE — - — — — (12,966) (12,966)
2,657 — (251) 315 11,154 28,246 42,121
As at 31st March, 2010 R-ZE—-F
=A=+-H 127,404 1,169 2,150 515 37,682 323,450 492,370
Representing: K&
— Proposed dividend — BRE S — — — — — 7,860 7,860
— Others — Hith 127,404 1,169 2,150 515 37,682 315,590 484,510

127,404 1,169 2,150 515 37,682 323,450 492,370




29 Reserves (Continued)

Company
As at 1st April, 2008

Loss for the year

Issue of shares under open offer
(note 27)

Employee share option scheme
— Share based payments

Dividends paid

As at 31st March, 2009

As at 1st April, 2009

Profit for the year
Employee share option scheme
— Issue of shares upon
exercise of employee
share options
— Share based payments
Dividends paid

As at 31st March, 2010
Representing:

— Proposed dividend
— Others

FREE
NRABERITRG
(KI3E27)
EEERETS
— B E
B E

R-_ZTAF
=A=+—H

R-_ZEZTAF
MmA—H

F PR F

& B R AT 2

— T EEERE
[k g0l 80

— B

2R

Ny

S

A

T-TF
—H

A

[1]
o+

K :
— BRRE
— Hfh

29 f#fE ()
Share-based
Share Capital compensation Retained
premium reserve reserve profits Total
RRE EXfE ROMERE - REER fitd
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
TR TET TET TET TET
104,527 520 1,484 33,473 140,004
—_ —_ — (204) (204)
20,220 — — — 20,220
— — 917 — 917
— — — (12,909) (12,909)
124,747 520 2,401 20,360 148,028
124,747 520 2,401 20,360 148,028
— — — 2,581 2,581
2,657 — (422) — 2,235
— — 171 — 171
— — — (12,9606) (12,966)
127,404 520 2,150 9,975 140,049
— — — 7,860 7,860
127,404 520 2,150 2,115 132,189
127,404 520 2,150 9,975 140,049
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Notes to the consolidated cash flow statement 30 #L&4EESHRERKM
(a) Reconciliation of profit before income tax to cash (@) MRS A B S EBELIN S 2 B -

generated from operations:

2010 2009
HK$’000 HK$'000
Profit before income tax B 50 A1 5 46,959 68,711
Adjustments for: KR
— Interest income — MEHA (295) (686)
— Interest expense — FBEXH 7,991 13,813
— Amortisation of leasehold land and — HEL K
land use rights 5 P #e i S 737 734
— Depreciation of property, plant and —E BEK
equipment R E 66,897 72,492
— Net loss on disposal of property, plant — HEYE BEREZE
and equipment ZEEFER 47 14
— (Write-back of)/provision for impairment — ¥ BMEREEZ
of property, plant and equipment B (B8, B (236) 1,000
— Fair value loss/(gain) on foreign — BHINEENZ
exchange forward contracts AFAE/BE (W) 567 (639)
— Fair value (gain)/loss on interest-rate — NXRBHAE LD 2
swaps NFEME) S EE (428) 3,930
— (Write-back of)/provision for impairment — — J& Y2 BR R & (B )
of receivables Va1 (10,131) 13,073
— (Write-back of)/provision for inventory — FERE(ERE),
obsolescence BE (7,414) 8,992
— Share based payments — B HMe 171 917
— Foreign exchange gains — EH K (641) (2,430)
104,224 179,921
Changes in working capital BEESE
(excluding effects of translation adjustments)  ("REIEEH ABH L)
— Inventories —FE (16,200) (5,217)
— Trade and bill receivables — BORWERNER (27,686) 51,810
— Prepayments and deposits — BRRERZRS (6,475) 4,233
— Trade and bill payables — BHRNERRRR 78,395 (39,123)
— Accruals and other payables — EstaER
H b & 5K 53 (23,986)

Net cash generated from operations REEKXE 7RG FEE 132,311 167,638
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30 Notes to the consolidated cash flow statement 30
(Continued)
(b) In the cash flow statement, proceeds from disposal (b)

of property, plant and equipment comprise:

Net book value
Loss on disposal of property,
plant and equipment

Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and H &%

equipment

31 Commitments

(@)

(b)

Capital commitments

o)

BRERERWE (HE)

RAERERAN HEWE BHELER
2SR ABREE:

2010 2009
HK$’000 HK$’000
BREFE 281 164
HEWE WERZE
Z 518 47) (14)
BB R
Z BB A 234 150
31 E&IE
(@) BEREE

Capital expenditure of the Group at the end of

reporting period contracted but not yet provided for

is as follows:

Machinery
Furniture and equipment
Construction in progress

Operating lease commitments

The Group had future aggregate minimum lease

payments under non-cancellable operating leases of

land and buildings, as follows:

Amounts payable
— within one year
— later than one year but no later than

five years

Generally the Group’s operating leases are for terms

of 0.5 to 5 years.

REBRBEERBETHEMEREA
ZERRAIWAT

Group
£E=
2010 2009
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET TEL
28 12,712 12,832
LT 9 527
FEETE 3,176 164
15,897 13,523
(b) BERWERE
AEERBEAAZEZERA L RET
BEROMBEMEAEZ A RZELLER
WHRBRENT
Group
£E
2010 2009
HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT TET
— 1F LR 10,119 15,840
— BBIFEDREF
4,329 16,280
14,448 32,120
AEBNKRERNFHRFFERSF -
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Commitments (Continued)
(c)  Other commitments
Total pre-determined fees payable by the Group to
the joint venture partner of Guangzhou Starlite
Environmental Friendly Center, Limited over a
period of 50 years up to year 2044 amounted to
approximately HK$19,992,000 (2009:

HK$19,972,000) (note 17(i)).

Financial guarantees

As at 31st March, 2010, the Company had provided
guarantees in respect of banking facilities of its subsidiaries
amounting to approximately HK$551,254,000 (2009:
HK$507,596,000). The facilities utilised by the subsidiaries
as at 31st March, 2010 amounted to approximately
HK$237,276,000 (2009: HK$201,825,000).

Banking facilities and pledge of assets

As at 31st March, 2010, the Group had aggregate banking
facilities of approximately HK$582,513,000 (2009:
HK$577,376,000) for overdrafts, loans, trade financing and
bank guarantees. Unused facilities as at the same date
amounted to approximately HK$333,767,000 (2009:
HK$322,236,000). These facilities were secured by:

(i) mortgages over the Group’s leasehold land and

buildings with a total net book value of
approximately HK$4,337,000 (2009: HK$4,462,000)

(notes 15 and 16(c));

(i) floating charges over the Group’s inventories held
under trust receipts bank loan arrangements of
approximately HK$34,163,000 (2009:
HK$22,540,000) (note 19); and

(iii)  guarantees provided by the Company and certain of

its subsidiaries.

As at 31st March, 2009, the finance lease obligation of
the Group was secured by plant and machinery with a net
book value of approximately HK$5,545,000 (note 16(d)).

31

32

33
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AR ()

(c) HfthA&iE
AEBENEMEAXARRFOBERAF
26 8% TR ET 8UEE £ 4919,992,0007
T(=ZZT A4 19,972,000 7T) * H
E_TNMNF- AR T FME
17(i)) °

BB ER

RZZE—ZTF=ZRF=+—HB ARQalgET
MEBARMERTHREMIBEHRAAERY
551,254,000/ 7T (= Z T JLF : 507,596,000
) RZE—ZFEFZA=Z+—HZWHERA
B8 A 2 R1T{E BEE4237,276,0008 70 (=&
=T A4 1 201,825,000 7T) °

RITEEEREEER
RZZE—ZTFZR=+—HB AEEERE
2EZ BEF - BHRMERBITERERITE
B 4 % 49582,513,0008 (= T T N F:
577,376,000/ L) - RRI B K& A 2 R1T1E
B f8 #9333,767,0008 (= T T h F:
322,236,000 7T) ° L FRITEEB 2 EA N
T~

(i) AEBHEIHWLEFRE EAK®E
3 1E #94,337,00008 T(Z T T 1L F:
4,462,000/ 7T) (M 5E15 % 16(c) )

(il AEEZRETVERTERTEMZES
ZE T1FEEH34,163,0008 L (ZEZH
F 122,540,000 7T) (M 5E19) + &

(i) ARFBRHEETHEBRBMIEZER-

N—ZETNFZA=Z+—8 AEENTH
#4918 75 DA BR ™ JF {8 495,545,000/ 7T (B 3%
(d)) S VE B IR o

O

1

[*N
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34

Related party transactions

As at 31st March, 2010, approximately 52.38% of the
Company’s ordinary shares were owned by Best Grade
Advisory Limited, a company incorporated in the British
Virgin Islands. Best Grade Advisory Limited is owned by
two discretionary trusts, the discretionary beneficiaries of
which include Mr. Lam Kwong Yu and Ms. Yeung Chui,
directors of the Company. The directors of the Company
regard Best Grade Advisory Limited to be the ultimate
holding company.

(@) Particulars of significant transactions between

34

BEALTZRS
WZZT—FTF=HZ=+ — HBest Grade
Advisory Limited (72 5 /& 4 B s B S Ak 2 )
¥ A K 1R F #52.38%% i o Best Grade
Advisory Limited i /3 fli]l & # F 5 7 A © 5%
E2RERAZEaABERARRESMHALN
FHERGRELZ L - RRAEFHRIEBest Grade
Advisory Limited & & #& R A 7 -

(@ AFAEEER-VHEEALTETZEE

the Group and a related party REHFBEWOT :
2010 2009
HK$’000 HK$'000
FERT FHET
Operating lease rentals charged by a K ERNEE T —
related party BEAL
Megastar Enterprises Limited EREEARAA 60 60

Megastar Enterprises Limited is beneficially owned
by Ms. Yeung Chui, a director of the Company. The
above transactions were carried out in the usual
course of business, and in accordance with the
terms of the contract entered into by the Group and

the related party.

(b) Key management compensation

Basic salaries and allowances
Discretionary bonus
Pension costs — defined contribution plans

Share-based payments

EARFE MORR
B HRE ZEAL
BRIRECA — FE
HREr &l
% 17 A B &

ERCEARAFBHARFEEHREX
TERBEAR LR ZHR—KREBE
B RBRASEEBEALRITARZ
R ETT -

by FEEBAESMEHENY

2010 2009
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHTT
10,327 10,324
1,413 1,012
199 199

75 303
12,014 11,838




HONG KONG, CHINA
hEEHEE
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